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ON THE MOVE




e S$trengthened Financials
Transport America continued its commitment to using cash flow as a tool
for debt reduction, reducing the Company’s total outstanding debt at year-
end 2004 to $49.1 million, compared to $54.8 million the previous year.
This represents the fifth consecutive year of debt reduction for Transport
America. This ongoing effort, combined with the late 2003 restructuring of
the lease arrangement on our headquarters facility, has resulted in the
reduction of nearly $110 million in outstanding debt and other obligations
since March 2000.

In addition to last year's debt reduction, we also repurchased 626,000
shares of our common stock at a cost of $4.5 million during 2004.

e Reduced Opsrating Ratio

One of Transport America’s primary goals over the last two years has been
a reduction in its operating ratio. With sustained focus on that goal, we
have continued to make steady improvement. Our fourth quarter 2004
operating ratio was 96.0 percent, compared to 97.7 percent for the same
period in 2003 and 101.2 percent for the same period in 2002.

e Hours-of-Service Challenge

One of the biggest challenges our industry faced in 2004 was the revised
hours-of-service regulations enacted early in the year by the U.S.
Department of Transportation’s Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration.
These new reguiations, under which freight-detention and layover time are
counted toward driving hours, had major implications for driver productiv-
ity and costs. Transport America was extremely proactive in its response to
this challenge. We negotiated new contracts with all customers in early
2004. We also utitized our superior technology to accurately track and bill
all extra charges incurred by the change in requlations, ensuring that our
drivers were not negatively impacted.

e Higher Rates

High demand for freight services, combined with limited capacity, created
a favorable rate climate in 2004, and Transport America capitalized on that
by obtaining rate increases in order to offset the inflationary pressures of
increased driver wages, increased insurance and workers” compensation
costs and other cost increases. Our fourth-quarter exit rates in 2004 were
6.0 percent higher than during the fourth quarter the previous year.

CHALLENGES
Despite our successes in 2004, Transport America also faced several major
challenges. The shortage of qualified drivers continues to be an issue for
Transport America as it is for the industry. During the year, we experienced
a reduction in our seated capacity, from 1,705 seated tractors in 2003 to
1,529 in 2004. This reduction is primarity due to the loss of owner/opera-
tors, an industry-wide issue but a particularly challenging one for
Transport America because of our higher percentage of owner/operators.
Accidents and related costs also continue to be a challenging area for
Transport America. Although we still maintain one of the best safety
records in the industry, we experienced an unfortunate increase in accident
costs and frequency in 2004, primarily due to several serious accidents.
The increased frequency was driven by an increase in student drivers and
less-seasoned drivers. We are committed to reducing our accident fre-
quency in the coming year, and we have implemented several new policies
and practices aimed at reducing accidents and improving safety.

LOOKING AHEAD

As we continue our momentum into 2005, we will continue to focus on our
three strategic priorities: profitable revenue growth, operational excellence
and organizational excellence:

We will improve our seated capacity by increasing the size of our
recruiting staff, adding recruiting incentives to attract new drivers, and
reorganizing our recruiting effort into areas of specialization, targeting
different driver populations: professional drivers, students and owner/
operators. We recently kicked off a new “We Care” campaign, aimed at
recruiting and positioning Transport America as a preferred employer for
drivers. We also will seek to attract more owner/operators by implement-
ing a lease-to-own program that we believe will be a strong enticement.

We remain committed to reducing accident frequency, particularly the
number of serious, costly accidents, and improving our safety procedures
overall, To this end, we recently implemented a longer, more comprehensive
orientation program for less-experienced drivers, increasing the length of
the program from four days in 2004 to 10 days in 2005. The program is new
but already it appears to be having a positive impact on safety.

Finally, we will continue to hone our network strategy, refining our
systems internally to further increase lane density and asset utilization.

In summary, we are pleased by the progress we made in 2004. We have
improved our business significantly over the past three years, and our
commitment to continue that effort has accelerated, not diminished. We are
confident we will be able to carry the momentum forward throughout 2005.

#d,

Michael J. Paxton
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer




g-engineering a business is a long-term process, requiring continued
scrutiny and retooling along the way. Success can be measured
many ways, but the most important indicators are those that demon-
strate sustained momentum and steady progress over the long haul.

For Transport America, 2004 was a year of continued, steady progress
on our core business fundamentals. We accomplished significant improve-
ments in several key areas, despite the ongoing challenges faced by our
industry. These improvements demonstrate that Transport America is a
company on the move and one that is well-positioned fo continue its
momentum forward.

While Transport America’s 2004 fiscal year revenue of $258.4 million
was comparable to our 2003 revenue of $258.9 million, other important
indicators, such as operating ratio, revenue per tractor per day and miles
per tractor per day all improved significantly during the year. These accom-
plishments and our continued progress on other fundamentals are the
direct result of our ongoing focus on network density and balance.

Earnings before cumulative effect of changes in accounting principle
were $2.0 million, or $0.30 per diluted share, in 2004, compared with
$74,000, or $0.01 per diluted share, before cumulative effect of changes in
accounting principle, in 2003. Net income for the year was $2.0 million, or
$0.30 per share, compared to a net loss of $1.1 million, or $0.15 per share,
in 2003.

KEY ACCOMPLISHMENTS

Several significant achievements resulted from Transport America’s contin-
ued focus on three strategic priorities: Profitable Growth, Operational
Excellence and Organizational Excelience:

o Greater Asset Utilization

Our continued focus on building network density and eliminating unprof-
itable lanes allowed us to make major inroads toward improving our asset
utilization during the year. The percentage of our fleet carrying dedicated
freight (including paid empty miles) more than doubled, from 7 percent in
2003 to 15 percent in 2004. Miles per seated tractor per day increased from
449 in 2003 to 455 in 2004. Revenue per available tractor per week

{excluding fuel surcharges) also increased, from $2,726 in 2003 to $2,880
in 2004. And deadhead, or empty miles, has remained in the single digits
over the past two years (adjusted for paid empty miles).

We also responded proactively to the ongoing industry challenge posed
by the tight driver market by finding other ways to maximize our freight
capacity. In 2004, Transport America increased its use of intermodal logis-
tics, relying on new partnerships we have developed with several major
railroad carriers,

o Productivity, Operational Improvements

Transport America continued its emphasis on increasing back-office
productivity throughout 2004. Our 2003 cost-reduction initiative, the
Nickel Challenge, has now been institutionalized as the TA Challenge, a
program that challenges the organization at all levels to identify and
implement programs that will reduce ongoing costs by $2.5 million in
2005. After reducing costs by $10 million in 2003, we set an ambitious
target for 2004 to reduce costs by another $5 miilion. We exceeded that
goal, implementing programs that are expected to result in cost reductions-
of $5.3 million. o

One significant operational improvement was the implementation of a
new owner/operator maintenance program, introduced in 2003 and 2004 at
seven terminals. Formerly cost centers, our support centers are now
revenue contributors providing maintenance to owner/operators as well as
Company-owned trucks. The response from owner/operators has been
extremely positive, and approximately 25 percent are reqularly taking
advantage of this new service.

We continued to reap the benefits of our new preventive maintenance
program, powered by our industry-leading software. The program was
implemented mid-year in 2003, and in 2004 we were able to experience a
full year of benefits. We also are assessing ways to improve fuel efficiency,
including installation of new heaters in trucks to provide drivers with an
alternative heat source that reduces idling.

As a result of these efforts, our revenue per non-driver employee, a key
measure of administrative productivity, increased to $642,000 for 2004,
compared to $628,000 in 2003.
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Transport America is committed to becoming the most successful provider of the highest quality

transportation and logistic services in North America. Our success witl be measured by our ability

to make all of our customers successful. For those who trust us with their products, we will supply

services that surpass their expectations and those of their customers. For those who perform the

work, we will provide a work environment that exceeds their needs and those of their families.

For those who invest their future in us, we will strive to maintain a superior level of financial

performance and strength.

FINANGCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Years ended December 31,

2000

In thousands, excépt for share, pé'r"s'hé}é'é}ﬁbi}hr'sua_hd‘bp'eraﬁhg data

Operating revenues
Operating income (loss)
Net earnings (loss)

Earnings (loss) per share - dituted
(before cumulative effect of change in
accounting principle)

Earnings (loss) per share - diluted

Shares outstanding, at end of period

Book value per share

Operating ratio

Total assets

Total debt and capital lease obligations
Stockholders’ equity

Debt-to-equity ratio

Tractors at end of period, Company-owned
Tractors at end of period, independent contractors

Trailers at end of period

258,408
6,466
2,037
0.30

0.30
6,527,392
8.62
97.5%
161,078
49,117
56,271
0.87
1,003
551
4,897

003

258,859
4,360

(1,079)
0.01

(0.15)
7,141,730
822

98.3%

165,268
54,920
58,701

0.94
1,000
73
4974

2002

273,227
(920)
(20,350)
(0.50)

(2.81)
7,219,831
8.34
100.3%
181,875
69,483
60,202
1.20
1,057
836
5,436
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TRANSPORT CORPORATION OF AMERICA, INC.
PART I
Item 1. BUSINESS

Overview

Transport Corporation of America, Inc. (the “Company” or “Transport America”) provides a
wide range of truckload carriage and logistics services in various lengths of haul in the United States
and parts of Canada. The Company has designed its business to provide high-quality, customized
transportation and logistics services that allow it to be a preferred partner or core carrier to major
shippers. The Company serves as an integral part of the distribution system of many of its major
customers. The principal categories of freight hauled by the Company are department-store merchan-
dise, home and office furniture, grocery, industrial, consumer, paper products, and expedited services.
The Company was incorporated under Minnesota law in 1980 and commenced substantial operations
in 1984,

The Company’s customers require time-definite pickup and delivery to support just-in-time
inventory management, specialized equipment, such as temperature-controlled trailers, trailers
designed to support decking, multi-stop loading and unloading, and sophisticated electronic transac-
tion capabilities to automate the exchange of order, load, and billing data. The Company also
provides logistics services by arranging transportation for customers with other third-party transporta-
tion providers. To support these complex customer requirements and deliver logistics services cost-
effectively, Transport America has developed a sophisticated information management system which it
believes makes it a technological leader in the industry.

The Company carries out its business strategy by assigning an experienced marketing representa-
tive to each customer to tailor its services, and by providing a wide range of transportation services,
including line-haul, multi-stop capability, regional and local operations, van trailers with and without
refrigeration or temperature control, time-definite pickup and delivery, satellite-monitored transif, and
information technology services. The Company also places operations personnel on-site at certain of
its customers’ facilities to enhance its services. As part of its mission to serve the transportation and
logistics needs of its mostly Fortune 500 customers, Transport America also provides dedicated trans-
portation and logistic services.

Customer Focus and Services

The Company has designed its business to be a core carrier or preferred partner to major
shippers by providing high-quality, tailored transportation and logistics services. The Company serves
as an integral part of the distribution system of many of its major customers. The principal categories
of freight hauled by the Company are department-store merchandise, home and office furniture,
grocery, industrial, consumer, paper products, and expedited services.

During 2004, the Company’s largest 5, 10, and 25 customers accounted for approximately 33%,
52%, and 74%, respectively, of operating revenues.

Marketing. The Company’s marketing personnel seek to strengthen Transport America’s rela-
tionships with existing customers and to identify and establish new customer relationships by
promoting the Company’s technological capabilities, taking advantage of the trend among shippers
toward just-in-time inventory management, private fleet conversions, outsourcing of transportation
requirements, and utilization of core carriers. The Company employs a marketing force located
throughout its primary business areas. Senior management is also actively involved in marketing,
logistics planning, and customer relations, particularly with large national customers.

Support Centers. In 2004, the Company utilized seven strategically located “full-service” support
centers and an additional seven “limited-service” support centers to provide an added level of
customer service and support. These facilities are located in close proximity to major population
centers or customer locations, thereby enabling the Company to provide a large amount of
equipment, and local customer-service representatives to work directly with customers on a
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day-to-day basis. The Company believes that these support centers allow it to maintain closer rela-
tionships with its driver workforce through on-site driver amenities and interactions with service-
center personnel.

Time-Definite Service. In each of its markets, the Company seeks to provide 100% on-time
pickup and delivery, expedited time-in-transit, logistical planning to coordinate and deliver freight
within time-definite parameters, and advanced information capabilities that provide value to
customers. Time-definite transportation requires pick-ups and deliveries to be performed within
narrowly defined time frames. Time-definite services are particularly important to the Company’s
customers who operate just-in-time manufacturing, distribution, and retail inventory systems. The
Company employs personnel at certain of its customers’ facilities to meet critical customer transpor-
tation and logistics needs.

Human Resources

Transport America’s human resources are an important element of its customer-focused business
strategy. Employee drivers, independent contractors, and non-driver employees regularly interact with
customers and are ultimately responsible for customer satisfaction. In order for the Company to grow
and continue to be positioned as a quality carrier of choice for existing and new customers, the
Company regularly evaluates changes to the driver’s work environment that will improve driver satis-
faction and retention. The Company continues to emphasize competitive pay packages, quality
at-home time, technology that enhances the driver’s experience, and “driver friendly” freight as the
principal means to attract and retain its driver workforce.

Independent Contractors. 'The Company believes that a fleet of both employee drivers and
independent contractors is essential if the Company is to continue its growth. Independent contrac-
tors provide their own tractors, generally have a lower turnover rate than the Company has
experienced with employee drivers, and have a strong emphasis on safety.

The Company enters into operating agreements with its independent contractors, pursuant to
which its independent contractors agree to furnish a tractor and driver to transport, load and unload
goods on behalf of the Company. These agreements typically have terms of one year and provide for
the payment to independent contractors of fixed compensation for total loaded and empty miles, as
well as for performing other ancillary services. Independent contractors must pay all of their
operating expenses and must meet Department of Transportation (“DOT?”) regulatory requirements,
as well as safety and other standards established by the Company. The Company has implemented an
incentive program to encourage safe driving and good customer service habits.

The Company has also implemented a lease-to-own program utilizing a limited number of
tractors to attract and retain owner-operators. This program allows an owner-operator to lease
tractors previously owned by the Company for a small down payment combined with a per-mile fee
for rental and maintenance of the equipment. Ownership of the unit is transferred at the end of the
lease term.

Driver Work Environment. The market for professional truck drivers and independent contrac-
tors tightened significantly during 2003 and has remained tight throughout 2004. The Company has
implemented several programs to boost its recruiting efforts and increase the seated fleet percentage.

The Company believes that the type of freight it typically handles is a significant factor in
retention of employee drivers and independent contractors. Consequently, the Company focuses much
of its marketing efforts on customers with freight that is “driver-friendly” in that it requires minimal
loading or unloading by drivers and customer employees.

The Company utilizes late-model, reliable equipment including standard features such as sleeper
bunks, large cabins, air-ride suspensions, and anti-lock brakes. The Company also provides satellite
communications technology that enables drivers to receive load-related information, directions, pay
information, fueling recommendations, e-mail access, and family emergency information. The
Company’s service centers are strategically located to provide services for the driver, such as showers,
laundry facilities, break rooms, fuel, tractor and trailer maintenance, and in-person assistance from
service center personnel.
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Compensation and Benefits. The Company’s compensation and benefits package has been struc-
tured to compensate drivers on the basis of miles driven and ancillary services performed, with
increases in base compensation commensurate with length of service. Employee driver benefits
include paid vacation days, health insurance, and a Company-funded 401(k) retirement plan. Perfor-
mance bonuses are paid based upon on-time performance, accident-free driving experience, and a
lack of workers’ compensation incidents. The Company believes its compensation and benefits
packages for employee drivers and independent contractors continue to rank in the upper quartile in
the truckload industry.

Recruiting and Training. The Company’s employee drivers are hired, and independent contrac-
tors are approved, in accordance with specific Company guidelines relating to safety records, prior
work history, personal evaluation, accident and driving record verification, drug and alcohol
screening, and a physical examination. The Company has operated a training school since 2000 as a
means of enhancing its recruiting efforts and tailoring driver skills to match its specific needs. The
school initially enabled persons new to the transportation industry to obtain a commercial driver’s
license (“CDL”) and to complete an extensive training program before being assigned their own
truck; however, in 2003, the Company discontinued the CDL licensing program and instead hires
students who already have a CDL. The Company’s orientation and training seminar for all new
employee and independent contractor drivers includes a review of all Company policies and
operating requirements, written and road driving tests, defensive driving and safety skills, DOT
compliance requirements, and the employee driver’s and independent contractor’s role in providing
safe and efficient value-added service to customers. The Company also conducts driver meetings,
publishes a newsletter, and conducts specific professional development training, including training to
become an over-the-road driver instructor.

Driver and Independent Contractor Supervision. The Company assigns each employee driver
and independent contractor to a specific fleet manager. The fleet manager’s role is to be the primary
support resource for the employee driver or independent contractor. The fleet manager also commu-
nicates the work assignments and coordinates driver pay matters using satellite technology, schedules
time off, reviews performance, provides day-to-day training, arranges required safety inspections,
reviews performance, and is accountable for the retention and productivity of the assigned employee
drivers and independent contractors.

As of December 31, 2004, the Company employed 963 student and professional employee
drivers, 101 mechanics, 306 persons in operations, marketing, training, and administration, and had
agreements with independent contractors who provided 551 tractors. The Company’s employees are
not represented by any collective bargaining units, and the Company considers relations with its
employees and independent contractors to be good.

Technology

The Company has developed an integrated and highly sophisticated, client/server computer infor-
mation system. This system integrates operations with the principal back-office functions of safety,
maintenance, driver and independent contractor settlement, fuel, billing, and accounting. The system
also includes satellite-based communications with the fleet. This system provides information directly
to and from the Company, its customers, and drivers to assist in managing a complex information
environment. The Company believes that technology is a cost-effective way to manage its complex
operations while improving services to its customers. The Company expects to continue to employ
technology solutions that enhance customer service, improve driver services, and that will enable it to
realize other processing efficiencies.

Operations and Communications. The Company utilizes information systems and satellite-based
communications to process orders, optimize scheduling, dispatch loads, and monitor loads in transit.
Load planners, with the benefit of optimization software, match customer orders daily with driver
availability. Once the most appropriate load assignment decision is made, based on computer-
monitored load factors, the load information is sent directly to the driver through the satellite
network. The satellite system simplifies locating of equipment and permits timely and efficient
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communication of critical operating data such as shipment orders, loading instructions, routing, fuel,
taxes paid and mileage operated, payroll, safety, traffic, and maintenance information.

Electronic Data Interchange (“EDI”). The Company’s system enables full electronic data inter-
change of load tendering, shipment status, freight billing, and payment. This system provides
significant operating advantages to the Company and its customers, including real-time information
flow, reduction or elimination of paperwork, error-free transcription, and reductions in clerical
personnel. EDI allows the Company to exchange data with its customers in a variety of formats,
depending on the individual customer’s capabilities, which significantly enhances quality control,
customer service, and efficiency. A significant portion of the Company’s revenues is currently
processed through EDI.

Internet Access. The Company provides its customers with on-line access to certain load-status
information as well as the ability to retrieve document images related to customer shipments. The
Company’s Web site (www.transportamerica.com) also provides access to other information for the
benefit of customers, drivers, potential employees and investors. Depending upon customer needs,
technological capabilities, and internal resources, the Company expects to continue to expand its use
of the Internet and e-commerce. The contents of the Company’s website are not incorporated by
reference into this Annual Report.

Revenue Equipment

The Company operates a modern fleet of tractors and trailers. Tractors are typically replaced
every 48 to 60 months, based on factors such as age and condition, current interest rates, the market
for used equipment, and improvements in technology and fuel efficiency. The average age of the
Company-operated tractors at December 31, 2004 was approximately 25 months.

The Company has- available a variety of trailers to meet customer requirements. At
December 31, 2004, these included 4,756 dry vans, many of which are equipped with heaters, and 141
refrigerated vans. The trailer-to-tractor ratio of 3.1 allows the Company to provide its high-volume
customers with extra trailers to accommodate loading and unloading, and to improve driver and asset
utilization. Depending on market conditions, the Company generally replaces trailers after seven to
ten years of service. The average age of in-service trailers at December 31, 2004, was approximately
71 months. :

The following table shows the model years of the Company tractors and trailers as of
December 31, 2004:

Model Year Tractors Trailers
2005 . 110 500
2004 L e 290 —
2003 L e e 248 —
200 e 253 —_
200 L e e 14 13
2000 .o e e 56 1,000
1000 L e 2 1,457
1008 L 29 985
1907 o e 1 547
1006 L e — 361
1995 and prior .. ..o — 34

Total COMPANY ...ttt ettt e e e 1,003 4,897
Independent Contractor ........... ... . .o i 551 —

Total available ......... ... i i e 1,554 4,897

Competition

The truckload transportation business is extremely competitive and fragmented. The Company
competes primarily with other truckload carriers, particularly those in the high service end of the
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truckload market. The Company also competes with alternative forms of transportation, such as rail,
intermodal, and airfreight, particularly in the longer haul segments of its business. Competition in the
truckload industry has created pressure on the industry’s pricing structure. Generally, competition for
the freight transported by the Company is based on service, equipment availability, trailer type, effi-
ciency, freight rates, and technological capabilities. There are a number of competitors that have
substantially greater financial resources, operate more equipment, and transport more freight than the
Company.

Executive Officers

The executive officers of Transport America are as follows:

Name and Age Position with Transport America

Michael J. Paxton (58) Chairman of the Board since July 2002, and President and Chief
Executive Officer of Transport America since November 2001. Mr.
Paxton has served on the Board of Directors of Transport America
since 1995. Mr. Paxton previously served as President and CEO of the
Sunbeam Health and Safety Company (manufacturer of home safety
and health products, a subsidiary of Sunbeam Corporation) from
September 1998 to November 2001. Prior to that, he served as
Chairman, President and CEO of O —Cedar Brands, Inc. (a household
cleaning products company) from January 1996 to September 1998.

Keith R. Klein (41) Chief Financial Officer of Transport America since July 1999, and Chief
Information Officer since March 2001. From 1997 to July 1999, Mr.
Klein was founder and owner of a financial consulting firm. From 1990
to 1997, he served in various positions at Deluxe Corporation, most
recently as Vice President and Corporate Controller.

Craig A. Coyan (55) Vice President of Sales and Marketing since July 2003. Prior to joining
Transport America, Mr. Coyan served as Vice President of
Sales—Southeast and Mexico, for Swift Transportation, Phoenix, AZ.
Mr. Coyan began his transportation career in 1979 with Midwestern
Distribution, and spent 16 years with M.S. Carriers in Memphis, TN,
until the merger of Swift Transportation and M.S. Carriers in 2001.

Ronald C. Kipp (58) Vice President of Operations since October 2002. For 24 years from
1978 to 2002, Mr. Kipp served in various operations and sales positions
with Schneider National, Inc. including most recently as Director of
Business Development for a major business account from 2001 to 2002,
and as Vice President of Sales for Schneider Specialized Carriers, Inc.
from 1999 to 2001.

Peggy C. Farra (48) Vice President, Driver Recruitment and Safety since February 2005. Ms.
Farra has held a variety of roles with Transport America over the past
10 years, most recently serving as Corporate Treasurer. Prior to joining
Transport America, Ms. Farra spent 15 years practicing public
accounting with KPMG and various other public accounting firms.

Available Information

The Company’s web site address is www.transportamerica.com. The Company has available on its
web site annual reports on Form 10—K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form
8-K and amendments to those reports as soon as reasonably practical after it electronically files such
materials with, or furnishes it to, the SEC. The Company’s Code of Conduct, as well as any waivers
from and amendments to the Code, are also posted on the Company’s web site. The contents of the
Company’s web site are not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Item 2. PROPERTIES

The following chart provides information concerning the Company’s service centers and other
facilities:

Owned Square
Support Centers and Other Facilities Or Leased Acreage Footage
“Full Service” Support Centers
Atlanta, Georgia ...... ...t e Owned 16.2 14,860
Eagan, Minnesota (Terminal Drive) ....................... Owned 14.9 17,500
Janesville, WISCONSIN .. ..ot i i i Owned 13.6 16,700
Kansas City, Missouri ... ... Owned - 10.0 14,862
Mechanicsburg, Pennsylvania ............................. Leased 4.5 8,500
North Jackson, Ohio . ...t i Owned 8.1 11,230
North Liberty, Iowa ......... ... .. Owned 13.0 15,150
“Limited Service” Support Centers
Clarksville, Indiana ...ttt Leased 4.0 900
Fontana, California ............ccoiiiiiiiniiiinn.n. Leased 3.5 1,800
Garland, TeXas ... ..vt it e Owned 9.2 32,000
Grand Rapids, Minnesota ................................ Leased 0.2 140
Grove City, Ohio ........... .. i i Leased 4.7 10,200
Laredo, Texas .....covtii ittt Leased 0.9 700
Spirit Lake, Towa ... ... ... i Leased * 6,000
Other Facilities
Eagan, Minnesota (1715 Yankee Doodle Road) ** .......... Leased 8.3 70,707
Scottsburg, Indiana**** . ... ... .. ... . Leased 6.0 14,073

* Office facility.
**  Headquarters Facility.
***  Training Center.

As of December 31, 2004, the Company’s rental payments for its leased facilities range from

approximately $625 to $86,000 per month. The Company does not anticipate any difficulties renewing
or continuing these leases.

In addition to the properties listed above, Transport America leases parking and drop lot space
at various locations.

Item 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The Company is routinely a party to litigation incidental to its business, primarily involving
claims for workers’ compensation or for personal injury and property damage incurred in the trans-
_portation of freight. The Company maintains insurance, which covers liability amounts in excess of
retained liabilities from personal injury and property damage claims. The Company currently carries a
total of $30 million liability insurance coverage per incident.

Item 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS

No matter was submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of the fiscal
year covered by this Report.
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PART I

Item 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Price Range of Common Stock. 'The Company’s Common Stock is traded on the Nasdaq
National Market under the symbol “TCAM?”. The following table sets forth the high and low closing
prices for the Company’s Common Stock, as reported by Nasdaq, for the periods indicated:

Period High Low
2004:
Ist QUATIET .« oottt e $7.78 $7.06
2nd Quarter . ... 7.88 7.00
BrdQuarter ... 7.95 7.67
4th Quarter ... 8.49 7.54
2003:
1st QUATLET .o $5.58 $5.00
2nd Quarter ... ... 6.19 5.00
3rdQuarter ... 6.23 5.53
4th Quarter ........ovviiiiiiiiiienan.. 7.75 6.15

Stockholders.  As of February 28, 2005, the Company had 415 stockholders of record, including
Depository Trust Company, which held of record 6,393,102 shares. ’

Dividends. The Company has never paid any cash dividends on its Common Stock and does
not intend to pay cash dividends for the foreseeable future. Any future decision as to the payment of
dividends will be at the discretion of the Company’s Board of Directors and will depend upon the
Company’s results of operations, financial position, cash requirements, certain corporate law restric-
tions, restrictions under loan agreements and such other factors as the Board of Directors deems
relevant.

Purchases of Company Equity Securities. During the fourth quarter of 2004, the Company did
not purchase any of its equity securities.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Statement of Operations Data:

Operating revenues ... ..............c..oco....

Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits .............. ...
Fuel, maintenance and other expenses .........
Purchased transportation .. ..................
Revenue equipment leases ..................
Depreciation and amortization ...............
Insurance, claims and damage ................
Taxes and licenses . ........................
Communications . .........................
Other general and administrative expenses . ... ..
Impairment of revenue equipment ............
Loss (gain) on sale of property and equipment . . .

Total operating expenses . .................

Operating income (10ss) ......... ... .. ..oouu..
Interest expense, net . .............. ... .. ..

Earnings (loss) before income taxes and cumulative
effects of changes in accounting principle ........

Provision (benefit) for income taxes .............

Earnings (loss) before cumulative effect of changes
in accounting principle .............. .. ......

Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principle,
netof taxeffects . ........ ... ... . ... . ...

Net earnings (loss) ......... ..o u..

Earnings (loss) per share — basic
Before cumulative effect of changes in accounting
principle, net of tax effects ............... ... ...

Net earnings (loss) per share — basic . .............

Earnings (loss) per share — diluted
Before cumulative effect of changes in accounting
principle, net of tax effects ........... ... ... ...

Net earnings (loss) per share — diluted ............

Weighted average shares outstanding . .............
Weighted average shares outstanding, assuming dilution

Pretax margin .......... ... ... . ... . ... ...
Operating Data (company transported):
Tractors (at end of period)
Company ...........iiii
Independent contractor . ....................

Total ... .o
Trailers (at end of period) . ....................
Total miles (00078) . .. ... ... i

Average revenues per tractor per week (1) ........
Average revenues permile (1) .................
Average empty mile percentage ................
Average length of haul, miles ..................
Average annual revenues per non-driver employee . .
Balance Sheet Data (at end of period): (in thousands)
Total assets .......... ... ... . ... . ..
Total debt and capital lease obligations .. .........
Stockholders’ equity ........... ... ... . ... ...

(1)  Excluding fuel surcharge revenue

December 31,

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(In thousands, except share, per share and operating data)
$258,408 $258,859 $273,227 $274,589 $290,611

76,129 71,080 80,289 82,337 83,868
42 909 38,933 38,903 40,657 42,725
79,144 91,516 91,706 86,791 91,724
1,266 1,069 841 86 232
23,757 25,104 27,474 30,039 29,237
12,496 12,287 13,615 9,989 8,051
4,604 4,556 4,986 5,222 4,989
1,788 2,194 2,576 2,718 3,336
9,824 9,611 9,052 9,469 10,665
— (549) 4,741 — —
25 (1,302) (36) 318 (712)
251,942 254,499 274,147 267,626 274,115
6,466 4,360 (920) 6,963 16,496
3,115 4,123 5,447 7,272 8,836
3,351 237 (6,367) (309) 7,660
1,314 163 (2,711) 43 2,987
2,037 74 (3,656) (352) 4,673
— (1,153) (16,694) — —
$ 2037 (§ 1,079 ($20350) ($ 352) $ 4,673
$§ 030 § o001 $ (0.50) (0.05) 0.56
$§ 030 (0.15) § (2.81) (0.05) 0.56
$ 030 0.01 $  {0.50) (0.05) § 046
$ 030 $ (015 $ (281) § (0.05) 0.46
6,722 7,171 7,243 7,197 8,317
6,841 7,204 7,243 7,197 10,069
1.3% 0.1% (2.3%) (0.1%) 2.6%
1,003 1,000 1,057 1,266 1,261
551 713 836 724 743
1,554 1,713 1,893 1,990 2,004
4,897 4,974 5,436 5,890 6,010
176,722 193,772 210,842 204,477 212,185
$ 2,880 $ 2,726 $ 2,714 $ 2,568 $ 2,633
$ 133 $§ 127 $ 124 $ 127 $ 127
11.0% 10.3% 11.5% 12.7% 12.2%
682 718 718 685 682
$642,200  $628,300 $592,600 $555,400 $549,100
$161,078 $165,268 $181,875 $231,396 $256,656
49,117 54,920 69,483 92,451 118,519
56,271 58,701 60,222 80,447 80,688
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION
AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Overview

The primary business strategy of Transport America is to provide truckload carriage and logistics
services throughout the United States and parts of Canada as an integral part of the supply chain
system of its major customers. Operations are conducted primarily from the Company’s Eagan,
Minnesota corporate offices, with maintenance and driver services at its seven ‘full-service’ and
various ‘limited service’ terminal facilities located throughout the United States.

Organization of Financial Information

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis provides material historical and prospective disclo-
sures intended to enable investors and other users to assess our financial condition and results of
operations. Statements that are not historical are forward-looking and involve risks and uncertainties
discussed under the caption “Forward-Looking Statements” in Item 1 on page 27 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. ~

The consolidated financial statements and notes are presented in Item 8 of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. Included in the consolidated financial statements are the consolidated balance sheets,
consolidated statements of operations, consolidated statements of cash flows, and consolidated state-
ments of stockholders’ equity. The notes, which are an integral part of the consolidated financial
statements, provide additional information required to fully understand the nature of amounts
included in the consolidated financial statements.

Significant Transactions and Financial Trends

Throughout these financial sections, you will read about significant transactions or events that
materially contribute to or reduce earnings and materially affect financial trends. Significant transac-
tions discussed in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis include impairment charges recorded in
2003 and 2002 related to the disposal of tractors and trailers and reductions of these impairment
reserves during 2003 and 2002 when the ultimate impairment proved to be less than estimated; addi-
tional charges in 2003 and 2002 for increased claim settlement costs and growth in open claims; a
gain resulting from the sale of a maintenance facility in 2003; the cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle as a result of adopting FASB Interpretation (FIN) No. 46, “Consolidation of
Variable Interest Entities” which required the Company to consolidate its interest in its corporate
office facility and record the asset and related debt in the financial statement in 2003; the sale and
leaseback of this corporate office facility in 2003; and the cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle as a result of adopting SFAS No. 142 “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” which
required the Company to record a goodwill impairment charge in 2002.

These significant transactions result from unique facts and circumstances that likely will not
recur with similar materiality or impact on continuing operations. While these items are important in
understanding and evaluating financial results and trends, other transactions or events such as those
discussed later in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis may also have a material impact. A
complete understanding of these transactions and events is necessary in order to estimate the likeli-
hood that these trends will continue.

Significant Operating Trends

The Company benefited from the strong economy in 2004. High demand for freight services,
combined with limited capacity, allowed the industry to obtain rate increases with the majority of
customers on most lanes of traffic.

While the average rate per mile increased, overall revenues continued to be negatively impacted
by higher than expected unseated tractors (tractors owned by the Company for which no driver is
available to assign) and the limited availability of owner operator capacity. The hiring market
tightened significantly during the latter half of 2003 and has remained tight throughout 2004.
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New Hours of Service (HOS) rules went into effect at the beginning of 2004 and the Company
made a commitment to its drivers that they would not bear the financial burden of the more restric-
tive limits on hours of service; accordingly, it announced an increase in the accessorial pay for the
drivers and successfully negotiated new accessorial charges for customer events that had the effect of
decreasing asset and driver productivity. The Company also proactively worked with customers to
eliminate inefficiencies in their supply chain network.

Ongoing cost reduction efforts continue to make the Company more competitive and administra-
tive productivity continued to improve in 2004. The Company instituted its cost reduction program,
resulting in reduced salaries and wages, maintenance costs, accident claim costs, fuel costs, deprecia-
tion, and other general and administrative costs.

The Company continues to drive density and balance in its network, and is attaining increased
freight rates as it better manages the network and customer mix. Finally, the Company continued to
strengthen the balance sheet in 2004 by exceeding its debt reduction plan.

Outlook

Looking forward, the Company expects the rate environment to remain strong during the early
part of 2005 as limited driver availability will continue to put pressure on truckload capacity. Sequen-
tially, the Company has experienced eight quarters in a.row of increased rates and expects this trend
to continue into early 2005.

Even though the Company has been successful in reducing specific costs, the industry continues
to face cost pressures; driver pay rates are increasing as the industry tries to attract and retain
drivers; insurance and accident costs continue to rise; medical and workers compensation costs
continue to increase; fuel costs are at historical highs; and taxing authorities continue to raise tax
levies and toll rates. In addition, tractor replacements in 2004 were required to comply with new EPA
standards that will lead to increased depreciation expenses and reduced fuel efficiency.

While the Company has been successful in minimizing the impact of the new HOS rules through
proactive planning and the ability to invoice for additional accessorial charges (primarily detention),
it is unable to predict the ultimate long-term impact of the new HOS rules. Any changes to these
rules could have an adverse effect on the operations and profitability of the Company.

The biggest challenge for the Company and the industry is seated capacity since the market for
new drivers has tightened significantly beginning in the latter half of 2003 and continuing throughout
2004. The Company expects this to be one of the biggest issues facing the industry throughout 2005.
To address this trend, the Company has implemented several programs to boost its recruiting efforts
and increase the seated fleet percentage, including increased driver pay packages and new programs
designed to improve retention of existing drivers.

10
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain operating and other expense items as a percentage of
operating revenues for the periods indicated:

Years ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
(Amounts in percents)
Operating revenuUes ........cour e neeirennniinnennenan. 100.0 100.0 100.0
" Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages, and benefits ,............ ... ... L 29.5 27.5 29.4
Fuel, maintenance, and other expenses .................... 16.6 15.0 14.2
Purchased transportation ..............ooveeiiiiiiienna.. 30.6 354 33.6
Revenue equipment 1€ases ...........c.c.cevveirinniininan, 0.5 0.4 0.3
Depreciation and amortization .............. ... ... .. 92 9.7 10.1
Insurance, claims and damage ................. ... ...... 4.8 4.7 5.0
Taxes and licenses ......... ... it 1.8 1.8 1.8
CommuRICAtIONS . ... ivttr ittt i e 0.7 0.8 0.9
Other general and administrative expenses ................. 38 37 33
Impairment of revenue equipment ........................ — 0.2) 1.7
(Gain) loss on sale of property and equipment ............. i (0.5) —
Total operating eXpenses ................ccoiiiiniiao .. 915 98.3 100.3
Operating income (10SS) .......cotiiiiiit i 25 1.7 (0.3)
Interest expense, net ... ... i _12 1.6 2.0
Earnings (loss) before income taxes and cumulative effect of
changes in accounting principle .......... ... i iiiiiiainn.. 1.3 0.1 (2.3)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes ......................... _05 0.1 (1.0
Earnings (loss) before cumulative effect of changes in
accounting principle ......... ... .. i 0.8 (0.0) (1.3)
Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principle, net of tax
effects .. . e (0.4 _(6.1)
Net earnings (0SS} . ...t in e e _08 _(04) (9

Year Ended December 31, 2004, Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2003

Operating revenues, including fuel surcharges, were $258.4 million for the year ended December
31, 2004, compared to $258.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2003, a decrease of 0.2%. Fuel
surcharges were $18.5 million and $10.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively, reflecting the effect of higher fuel costs in 2004. Excluding fuel surcharges, revenues
decreased 3.3% when compared to 2003. Revenues in 2004 were negatively impacted by a lower than
expected number of seated tractors and the limited availability of independent contractor capacity
when compared to 2003. Seated Company and independent contractor average tractor counts by
quarter were as follows:

2004 2003
Average Average
Average Seated Total Average Seated Total
Seated Independent Average Seated Independent Average
Company Contractor Seated Company Contractor Seated
Tractors Tractors Tractors Tractors Tractors Tractors
1% Quarter .................. 832 698 1,530 97 845 1,816
27 Quarter ... 895 667 1,562 926 850 1,776
39 Quarter ..., 920 628 1,548 852 805 1,657
4™ Quarter .................. 897 580 1,477 827 746 1,573

At December 31, 2004, the Company’s fleet included 1,003 Company-owned tractors and 551
tractors provided by independent contractors compared to 1,000 Company-owned tractors and 713

11
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tractors provided by independent contractors at December 31, 2003. At December 31, 2004, 143
tractors were unseated compared to 178 unseated tractors at December 31, 2003.

The Company measures revenue excluding fuel surcharges, or “freight revenue,” in addition to
operating revenue, because management believes removing this sometimes volatile source of revenue
affords a more consistent basis for comparing results of operations from period to period. Operating
revenues per total mile, which includes fuel surcharges, were $1.44 per total mile for 2004 compared
to $1.32 per total mile for 2003. Freight revenues per total mile, which excludes fuel surcharges, were
$1.33 per total mile for 2004 compared to $1.27 per total mile for 2003. The increase in 2004 is
primarily a result of rate increases achieved with our customers due to increased demand for freight
capacity, improving customer mix, as well as increased accessorial charges related to new HOS regu-
lations implemented in 2004.

The following table reconciles the differences between these non-GAAP financial measures
excluding fuel surcharges and the most directly comparable GAAP measures including fuel
surcharges.

2004 2003
Operating Revenue per totalmile ................. . ... ... .. .. $1.44 $1.32
Fuel surcharge per total mile ............ ... .. ... .. ... 011 0.05
Freight revenue per total mile ................ ... ... ..., $1.33 $1.27

Equipment utilization, as measured by average operating revenues per tractor per week
(including fuel surcharges), was $3,106 during 2004 compared to $2,846 during 2003. Equipment utili-
zation, as measured by average freight revenues per tractor per week (excluding fuel surcharges), was
$2,880 during 2004 compared to $2,726 during 2003. The increase in equipment utilization in 2004
reflects increased rates and higher miles per tractor per week when compared to 2003, offset by a
higher percentage of empty (deadhead) miles in 2004.

The following table reconciles the differences between these non-GAAP financial measures
excluding fuel surcharges and the most directly comparable GAAP measures including fuel
surcharges.

2004 2003
~ Operating revenue per tractor per week ........... ... oo .. - $3,106 $2,846
Fuel surcharge per tractor per week ................... ... ..., 226 120
Freight revenue per tractor per week ........... ... ... ... ... ... $2,880 $2,726

Logistics revenues were $3.1 million and $2.7 million in 2004 and 2003, respectively. Profit contri-
bution related to the logistics revenue was $0.6 million and $0.5 million in 2004 and 2003,
respectively.

During 2004, Company-owned tractors averaged 60.0% of all available tractors, compared to
54.4% in 2003, with the remaining portion of the tractor fleet' provided by independent contractors.
The shift from owner-operators to Company drivers is primarily due to the difficulties in recruiting
and retaining owner-operators, since the market for these drivers has tightened significantly. As a
result of the change in mix as a percentage of the total fleet, Company drivers drove a greater
proportion of miles in 2004 than in the prior year. Accordingly, certain expenses, as a percentage of
revenues, shifted among several expense categories in 2004 when compared to 2003 as explained
below. ‘

Salaries, wages, and benefits increased $5.0 million to $76.1 million during 2004 compared to
$71.1 million during 2003. Salaries, wages, and benefits, as a percentage of operating revenues, were
29.5% in 2004 compared to 27.5% in 2003. The increase is primarily a result of higher miles driven
by employee drivers when compared to independent contractors (employee transported miles repre-
sented 57.3% of total miles in 2004 compared to 51.3% of total miles in 2003), as well as an increase
in the line-haul rates paid to drivers. In addition, accessorial compensation increased as a result of
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the new hours of service rules, trainer pay increased as a result of additional trainers, shop wages
increased in order to provide maintenance services to owner operators, and workers’ compensation
costs increased due to increased per-claim costs.

Fuel, maintenance, and other expenses increased $4.0 million to $42.9 million during 2004
compared to $38.9 million in 2003. Fuel, maintenance, and other expenses, as a percentage of
operating revenues, were 16.6% in 2004 compared to 15.0% in 2003. The increase reflects higher fuel
prices, a higher proportion of miles driven by company drivers, and increased equipment damage
costs. These increases were offset by lower maintenance costs during 2004 when compared to 2003.

Purchased transportation decreased $12.4 million to $79.1 million in 2004 compared to $91.5
million in 2003. Purchased transportation, as a percentage of operating revenues, was 30.6% in 2004
compared to 35.4% in 2003. The decrease reflects lower miles driven by independent contractors
(independent contractor transported miles represented 42.7% of total miles in 2004 compared to
48.7% of total miles in 2003), offset by an increase in the line-haul and accessorial rates paid to inde-
pendent contractors, along with increased fuel surcharge pass-through costs resulting from higher fuel
Ccosts.

Revenue equipment leases increased $0.2 million to $1.3 million in 2004 compared to $1.1
million in 2003. Revenue equipment leases, as a percentage of operating revenues, were 0.5% in 2004
compared to 0.4% in 2003, reflecting the Company’s use of operating leases for certain tractors
acquired in 2002 and 2004. The increase reflects the addition of 50 used tractors financed via
operating leases in 2004.

Depreciation and amortization decreased $1.3 million to $23.8 million in 2004 compared to $25.1
million in 2003. Depreciation and amortization, as a percentage of operating revenues, was 9.2% of
operating revenues in 2004 compared to 9.7% in 2003. The decrease is primarily due to reduced
depreciation as a result of the sale of the Company’s rights in the corporate headquarters in the
fourth quarter of 2003, partially offset by increased depreciation on trailers acquired in 2004.

Insurance, claims and damage expense increased $0.2 million to $12.5 million in 2004 compared
to $12.3 million in 2003. Insurance, claims and damage expense, as a percentage of operating
revenues, was 4.8% in 2004 compared to 4.7% in 2003. In the fourth quarter 2003 the Company
increased accident and workers compensation reserves by $1.8 million as a result of increased claim
settlement costs and growth in open claims. The Company experienced higher accident frequency and
severity during 2004 when compared to 2003.

Taxes and licenses expense remained at $4.6 million in both 2004 and 2003 even though the
Company’s overall fleet is smaller in 2004, due to increased fees and assessments levied by taxing
authorities. Taxes and licenses, as a percentage of operating revenues, was 1.8% in 2004 and 2003.

Communication expense decreased $0.4 million to $1.8 million in 2004 compared to $2.2 million
in 2003. Communication expense, as a percentage of operating revenues, was 0.7% in 2004 compared
to 0.8% in 2003. The decrease reflects the effect of favorable rates for communication services in
2004 combined with fewer tractors in the overall fleet.

Other general and administrative expense remained at $9.6 million in both 2004 and 2003. Other
general and administrative expense, as a percentage of operating revenues, was 3.7% in 2004 and
2003. Increases in other general and administrative expenses include driver hiring and training
expenses and building rent as a result of the Company selling its rights in the corporate headquarters
facility and leasing back a portion of the space in the fourth quarter of 2003. Decreases in other
general and administrative expenses include office management expenses, building repair costs, and
real estate taxes resulting from the Company’s sale of its rights in the headquarters facility. Included
in 2004 other general and administrative expense is a pre-tax impairment charge of $190,000 related
to a sub-lease agreement whereby the Company signed an agreement to rent 9,000 square feet of its
headquarters facility at a rental rate that was less than the rental rate paid by the company.

During 2002, the Company initiated plans to accelerate the disposal of a number of tractors and
trailers, which resulted in the Company recording an impairment charge under Statement of Financial
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Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144. These programs were substantially completed during 2003,
and an analysis of the initial impairment reserves demonstrated that the ultimate impairment was less
than originally estimated by $549,000; accordingly, this amount was reversed and recorded as income
in 2003.

Loss on the disposition of revenue equipment was $25,000 in 2004, compared to a gain of $1.3
million in 2003. The gain in 2003 was primarily related to the sale of a maintenance facility located in
Clarksville, Indiana. '

As a result of the items discussed above, the Company’s operating income increased $2.1 million
to $6.5 million in 2004 compared to $4.4 million in 2003. The Company’s operating ratio (operating
expenses as a percentage of operating revenues) was 97.5% in 2004 compared to 98.3% in 2003.

Net interest expense decreased $1.0 million to $3.1 million in 2004 compared to $4.1 million in
2003. Net interest expense, as a percentage of operating revenues, was 1.2% in 2004 compared to
1.6% in 2003. The decrease primarily reflects lower average debt balances during 2004.

Income tax provision increased $1.2 million to $1.3 million in 2004 compared to $163,000 in
2003. The effective tax expense rate in 2004 was 39.2%, compared to an effective tax benefit rate of
68.7% in 2003. The difference between the effective rates and statutory rates is due to the effect and
timing of non-deductible items in 2004 and 2003, further compounded by the fact that the 2003
income before income taxes and the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle was near
break-even. ‘

Net income before the effect of changes of accounting principle increased $1.9 million to $2.0 _
million in 2004 compared to $74,000 in 2003. Net income before the effect of changes in accounting
principle was 0.8% of operating revenues for 2004 compared to 0.03% of operating revenues for
2003.

The Company adopted SFAS No. 143 “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations in 2003,
which resulted in the Company establishing a liability of $212,000 for the fair value of tire disposal
fees, a prepaid asset related to tire disposal fees of $106,000, and a charge of $64,000, net of a tax
benefit of $42,000, representing the cumulative effect of change in accounting principle.

In 1999, the Company entered into a lease arrangement for its corporate headquarters facility
which was accounted for as an operating lease in accordance with SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for
Leases.” In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities”. The Company evaluated the treatment of this leasing arrangement under Interpretation No.
46 and concluded the pronouncement required the Company to consolidate this lease and record an
asset and related liability in its financial statements. Accordingly, the Company recorded an asset of
$11.2 million, debt of $13.0 million, and a cumulative-effect adjustment to earnings of $1.1 million
(net of tax benefit of $0.7 million) related to this lease.

Net income including the cumulative effect of changes in accounting principle was $2.0 million,
or 0.8% of operating revenue, in 2004 compared to a net loss of 1.1 million, or 0.4% of operating
revenues in 2003.

Year Ended December 31, 2003, Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2002

Operating revenues, including fuel surcharges, were $258.9 million for the year ended December
31, 2003, compared to $273.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2002, a decrease of 5.2%. Fuel
surcharges were $10.8 million and $5.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002,
respectively, reflecting the effect of higher fuel costs in 2003. Excluding fuel surcharges, revenues
decreased 7.4% when compared to 2002. Revenues in the latter half of the year were negatively
impacted by lower than expected seated tractors and the limited availability of independent
contractor capacity. Seated Company and independent contractor average tractor counts by quarter
were as follows:
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2003 2002
Average Average
Average Seated Total Average Seated Total
Seated Independent Average Seated Independent  Average
Company Contractor Seated Company Contractor Seated
Tractors Tractors Tractors Tractors Tractors Tractors
1% Quarter .................. 971 845 1,816 1,153 742 1,895
2™ Quarter ............oo..... 926 850 1,776 1,078 770 1,848
3 Quarter .......iiiiein... 852 805 1,657 989 801 1,790
4™ Quarter .................. 827 746 1,573 993 820 1,813

At December 31, 2003, the Company’s fleet included 1,000 Company-owned tractors and 713
tractors provided by independent contractors compared to 1,057 Company-owned tractors and 836
tractors provided by independent contractors at December 31, 2002. At December 31, 2003, 178
tractors were unseated compared to 45 unseated tractors at December 31, 2002. The increase in
unseated tractors in 2003 was due to difficulties in recruiting and retaining professional and student
drivers.

The Company measures revenue excluding fuel surcharges, or “freight revenue,” in addition to
operating revenue, because management believes removing this sometimes volatile source of revenue
affords a more consistent basis for comparing results of operations from period to period. Operating
revenues per total mile, which includes fuel surcharges, were $1.32 per total mile for 2003 compared
to $1.27 for 2002. Freight revenues per total mile, which excludes fuel surcharges, were $1.27 per total
mile for 2003, compared to $1.24 for 2002. The increase in 2003 is primarily a result of lower empty
{deadhead) miles and rate increases achieved with our customers.

The following table reconciles the differences between these non-GAAP financial measures
excluding fuel surcharges and the most directly comparable GAAP measures including fuel
surcharges.

2003 2002
Operating Revenue pertotalmile .............. . ... ... ... $1.32 $1.27
Fuel surcharge pertotal mile ........... ... ... ... .. L. 0.05 0.03
Freight revenue per total mile ............................ P $1.27 $1.24

Equipment utilization, as measured by average operating revenues per tractor per week
(including fuel surcharges), was $2,846 during 2003, compared to $2,769 for 2002. Equipment utiliza-
tion, as measured by average freight revenues per tractor per week (excluding fuel surcharges), was
$2,726 during 2003, compared to $2,714 for 2002. The increase in equipment utilization in 2003
reflects lower deadhead miles, offset by a decrease in the number of seated tractors, when compared
to the same period of 2002.

The following table reconciles the differences between these non-GAAP financial measures
excluding fuel surcharges and the most directly comparable GAAP measures including fuel
surcharges.

2003 2002
Operating revenue per tractor per week ..........oc.vnerennne.... $2,846 $2,769
Fuel surcharge per tractor per week .................... .. ... ... 120 55
Freight revenue per tractor per week ......... ... iiiiinn.. $2,726 $2,714

Logistics revenues were $2.7 million and $5.7 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively. The majority
of the decrease in logistics revenues was due to the elimination of a specific lane of business for a
specific customer that did not fit the Company’s operating strategy. Profit contribution related to the
logistics revenue was $0.5 million and $1.0 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively.
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During 2003, Company-owned tractors averaged 54.4% of all available tractors, compared to
59.0% in 2002, with the remaining portion of the tractor fleet provided by independent contractors.
The shift from Company drivers to owner-operators is primarily due to the success of the Company’s
lease-to-own program. As a result of the change in mix as a percentage of the total fleet, indepen-
dent contractors drove a greater proportion of miles in 2003 than in the prior year. Accordingly,
certain expenses, as a percentage of revenues, shifted among several expense categories in 2003 when
compared to 2002 as explained below.

Salaries, wages, and benefits decreased $9.2 million to $71.1 million during 2003 compared to
$80.3 million during 2002. Salaries, wages and benefits expenses, as a percentage of operating
revenues, were 27.5% for 2003 compared to 29.4% for 2002. The decrease is primarily a result of
lower miles driven by employee drivers when compared to independent contractors (employee trans-
ported miles represented 51.3% of total miles in 2003 compared to 55.3% of total miles in 2002),
lower driver assessorial wages due to reduced stop-offs, detentions, and layovers; and a reduction in
non-driver payroll expense in 2003, partially offset by higher workers’ compensation insurance and
claims costs. The reduction in non-driver payroll is primarily the result of closing two service centers.

Fuel, maintenance, and other expenses remained consistent at $38.9 million in both 2003 and
2002. Fuel, maintenance and other expenses, as a percentage of operating revenues, were 15.0% for
2003 compared to 14.2% for 2002. The increase is primarily a result of increased maintenance and
tire replacement costs partially offset by a lower proportion of miles driven by Company drivers.

Purchased transportation decreased $0.2 million to $91.5 million in 2003 compared to $91.7
million in 2002. Purchased transportation, as a percentage of operating revenues, was 35.4% for 2003
compared to 33.6% for 2002. The increase as a percentage of operating revenues reflects higher miles
driven by independent contractors (independent contractor transported miles represented 48.7% of
total miles in 2004 compared to 44.7% of total miles in 2002), and higher pass-through of fuel
surcharge revenues to independent contractors as a reflection of higher fuel costs.

Revenue equipment leases increased $0.3 million to $1.1 million in 2003 compared to $0.8
million in 2002. Revenue equipment leases, as a percentage of operating revenues, were 0.4% in 2003
compared to 0.3% in 2002, reflecting the Company’s use of operating leases for certain tractors
acquired in 2002.

Depreciation and amortizaiion decreased $2.4 million to $25.1 million in 2003 compared to $27.5
million in 2002. Depreciation and amortization, as a percentage of operating revenues, was 9.7% for
2003, compared to 10.1% for 2002. The decrease is primarily a result of a reduction in the number of
company owned tractors and trailers.

Insurance, claims and damage expense decreased $1.3 million to $12.3 million in 2003 compared
to $13.6 million in 2002. Insurance, claims and damage expense, as a percentage of operating
revenues, was 4.7% in 2003 compared to 5.0% in 2003. The decrease is due to a reduction in the
number and severity of accidents in 2003 compared to 2002, and to fourth quarter adjustments to
increase accident and workers’ compensation reserves of $1.8 million in 2003 compared to fourth
quarter adjustments of $2.6 million in 2002 as a result of increased claim settlement costs and growth
in open claims, partially offset by higher premiums.

Taxes and licenses expense decreased $0.4 million to $4.6 million in 2003 compared to $5.0
million in 2002. This decrease is due to the reduction in the overall fleet size. Taxes and licenses, as a
percentage of operating revenues, were consistent at 1.8% for 2003 and 2002.

Communication expense decreased $0.4 million to $2.2 million in 2003 compared to $2.6 million
in 2002. Communications expense, as a percentage of operating revenues, was 0.8% for 2003
compared to 0.9% for 2002. The decrease reflects the effect of fewer tractors in the overall fleet.

Other general and administrative expense increased $0.5 million to $9.6 million in 2003
compared to $9.1 million in 2002. Other general and administrative expense, as a percentage of
operating revenues was 3.7% for 2003, compared to 3.3% for 2002. The increase is primarily a result
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of increased security costs at the service centers, employee-moving expenses, increased consulting
fees, and increased software maintenance fees.

Impairment of revenue equipment was a credit to income of $549,000 or 0.2% of operating
revenue in 2003, compared to an expense of $4.7 million, or 1.7% of operating revenues in 2002.
During March 2002, the Company initiated a plan to accelerate the disposal of approximately 260
tractors and 500 trailers. As a result of the change in the utilization period and the related estimated
cash flows, the Company recorded a pre-tax $4.7 million impairment charge under Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144 related to this disposition of revenue equipment.
This initial impairment program was substantially completed during the first quarter 2003. An
analysis of this initial impairment reserve demonstrated that the ultimate impairment on this disposal
program was less than originally estimated and the reserve was reduced by $1.0 million in the fourth
quarter of 2002 and a further $278,000 in the first quarter of 2003. During the fourth quarter 2002,
the Company established an additional disposal program for 400 trailers that it intended to dispose of
in 2003. The impairment charge on this disposal program was estimated to be approximately $1.0
million. The ultimate impairment on this disposal program was less than originally estimated by
approximately $271,000; accordingly, this amount was reversed and recorded as income in the fourth
quarter of 2003.

Gain on the disposition of property and equipment was $1.3 million in 2003 related primarily to
the disposition of real estate property, compared to a gain of $36,000 in 2002.

As a result of the items discussed above, the Company’s operating income increased $5.3 million
to $4.4 million in 2003 compared to a loss of $0.9 million in 2002. The Company’s operating ratio
(operating expenses as a percentage of operating revenues) was 98.3% for 2003 compared to 100.3%
for 2002.

Net interest expense decreased $1.3 million to $4.1 million in 2003 compared to $5.4 million in
2002. Net interest expense, as a percentage of operating revenues, was 1.7% for 2003, compared to
2.0% for 2002. The decrease reflects lower average outstanding debt balances during 2003.

Income tax provision increased $2.9 million to $163,000 in 2003 compared to an income tax
benefit of $2.7 million in 2002. The effective tax expense rate for 2003 was 68.7%, compared to an
effective tax benefit rate of 42.6% for 2002. The tax expense rate in 2003 is primarily a result of the
effect of non-deductible items for tax purposes in relation to low pre-tax income. The 2002 tax
benefit rate of 42.6% includes a 4.7% benefit due to a favorable adjustment related to tax contin-
gency reserves.

Net income before the effect of changes of accounting principle was $74,000, or 0.02% of
operating revenues for 2003, compared to a net loss of $3.7 million, or 1.3% of operating revenues
for 2002.

In 2003, the Company adopted SFAS No. 143 “Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations,
which resulted in the Company establishing a liability of $212,000 for the fair value of tire disposal
fees, a prepaid asset related to tire disposal fees of $106,000, and a charge of $64,000, net of a tax
benefit of $42,000, representing the cumulative effect of change in accounting principle.

In 1999, the Company entered into a lease arrangement for its corporate headquarters facility
which was accounted for as an operating lease in accordance with SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for
Leases.” In January 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities”. The Company evaluated the treatment of this leasing arrangement under Interpretation No.
46 and concluded the pronouncement required the Company to consolidate this lease and record an
asset and related liability in its financial statements. Accordingly, the Company recorded an asset of
$11.2 million, debt of $13.0 million, and a cumulative-effect adjustment to earnings of $1.1 million
(net of tax benefit of $0.7 million) related to this lease.

In 2002, the Company adopted SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets;” which
resulted in the Company recording a goodwill impairment charge of $16.7 million, net of tax benefit
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of $7.7 million benefit, as a cumulative effect of change in accounting principle. At December 31,
2001, the carrying value of goodwill, net of amortization, was $24.4 million.

Net loss including the cumulative effect of changes in accounting principle was $1.1 million or
0.4% of operating revenues for 2003, compared to a net loss of $20.4 million or 7.4% of operating
revenues for the year ended December 31, 2002.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make decisions based upon
estimates, assumptions, and factors it considers as relevant to the circumstances. Such decisions
include the selection of applicable accounting principles and the use of judgment in their application,
the results of which impact reported amounts and disclosures. Changes in future economic conditions
or other business circumstances may affect the outcomes of management’s estimates and assumptions.
Accordingly, actual results could differ from those anticipated. A summary of the significant
accounting policies followed in preparation of the financial statements is contained in Note 1 of the
financial statements attached hereto. Other footnotes describe various elements of the financial state-
ments and the assumptions on which specific amounts were determined. Not all of these significant
accounting policies require management to make difficult subjective or complex judgments or
estimates. An accounting estimate is considered to be critical if it meets both of the following criteria:
(i) the estimate requires assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain at the time the
accounting estimate is made, and (ii) different estimates reasonably could have been used or changes
in the estimate that are reasonably likely to occur from period to period would have a material
impact on the presentation of the financial condition or results of operations. The Company’s critical
accounting policies include the following:

Revenue Equipment, Property, and Other Equipment. Revenue equipment, property, and other
equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation, including amortization of capitalized leases, is
computed using the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease
periods, whichever is shorter. As part of a purchase program with a tractor manufacturer, the
Company has obtained residual value guarantees for a significant portion of its tractors. Management
must make significant estimates regarding the useful lives and salvage values for purposes of depreci-
ating tractors and trailers. A ten percent decrease in estimated salvage values on tractors and trailers
would have decreased the Company’s net revenue equipment as of December 31, 2004 by approxi-
mately $1.9 million.

Estimated Liability for Insurance Claims. Management estimates accruals for the self-insured
portion of pending accident liability, workers’ compensation, physical damage, and cargo damage
claims. In the month claims are reported, the Company estimates and establishes a liability for its
share of ultimate settlements using all available information, coupled with the Company’s history of :
such claims. Claim estimates are adjusted as additional information becomes available. The recorded
expense depends upon actual loss experience and changes in estimates of settlement amounts for
open claims that have not been fully resolved. However, final settlement of these claims could differ ,
materially from the amounts the Company has accrued at year-end. If the accident and property ]
claims settlement costs increased by ten percent, the estimated outstanding loss reserves as of
December 31, 2004 would have had to increase by approximately $1.2 million. If the workers’
compensation settlement costs increased by ten percent the outstanding loss reserves as of December
31, 2004 would have had to increase by approximately $0.2 million.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets. Long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles are
reviewed for impairment whenever events or.changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured
by a comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future net undiscounted cash flows expected
to be generated by the asset. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be
recognized is measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair
value of the assets. Assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair
value less costs to sell.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Net cash provided by operating activities was $29.9 million, $28.9 million, and $29.2 million, for
the yvears ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. During 2004, 2003, and 2002, the
net change of operating assets and liabilities provided cash of $3.3 million, $6.9 million, and $3.3
million, respectively. The primary changes in operating assets and liabilities relate to reduced accounts
receivables as a result of lower revenues and ongoing collection efforts, reduced lease receivables as a
result of independent contractors who participate in the Company’s lease to own program continue
to make payments under the program, and increased accounts payable and increased accrued
insurance, claims and damage expense.

Investing activities consumed cash of $19.0 million in 2004, including $18.0 million for the
purchase of new revenue equipment, net of proceeds from the disposition of used revenue
equipment, and $1.0 million for software development and purchases of other equipment. Investing
activities consumed cash of $11.3 million in 2003, including $10.5 million for the purchase of new
revenue equipment, net of proceeds from the disposition of used revenue equipment, and $0.8 million
for software development and purchases of other equipment. Investing activities consumed cash of
$7.6 million in 2002, including $6.2 million for the purchase of new revenue equipment, net of
proceeds for the disposition of used revenue equipment, and $1.4 million for software development
and purchases of other equipment. In 2004, 2003, and 2002, the Company acquired 200, 250, and 334
tractors, respectively and disposed of 197, 318, and 582 tractors, respectively. In addition, in 2004 the
Company acquired 15 trailers related to a new dedicated operation, replaced 500 trailers and
disposed of an additional 95 trailers in excess of current needs. The Company disposed of 481 trailers
in 2003 and 459 trailers in 2002 that were determined to be in excess of Company needs.

Net cash consumed by financing activities in 2004 was $9.5 million, including $26.4 million for
repayments of long-term debt, and $20.6 million of proceeds from the issuance of new long-term debt
associated with new revenue equipment. Net cash consumed by financing activities in 2003 was $15.3
million, including $2.5 million net repayments to the Company’s credit facility, $32.5 million for
repayments of long-term debt, and $20.5 million from proceeds from the issuance of new long-term
debt associated with new revenue equipment. Net cash consumed by financing activities in 2002 was
$22.6 million, including $16.5 million net repayments to the Company’s credit facility, $27.9 million
for repayments of long-term debt, and $21.4 million from proceeds from the issuance of new long-
term debt associated with new revenue equipment. At December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, the
Company had $25.6 million, $3.2 million, and $0.0 outstanding commitments for the purchase of
revenue equipment, respectively.

Working capital was negative $7.9 million at December 31, 2004 and $33,000 at December 31,
2003. The Company relies primarily on its operating cash flows and available borrowings under its
credit facility to satisfy its short-term capital and debt-service requirements.

The Company has a credit agreement for a secured credit facility with maximum combined
borrowings and letters of credit of $30 million. The credit agreement expires May 4, 2007. Amounts
actually available under the credit facility are limited by the Company’s accounts receivable and
unencumbered revenue equipment. At December 31, 2004, the Company had additional amounts
available under its credit facility of $19.8 million based on available borrowing and collateral require-
ments. The credit facility is used to meet working capital needs, purchase revenue equipment and
other assets, and to satisfy letter of credit requirements associated with the Company’s self-insured
retention arrangements. At December 31, 2004, there were no outstanding borrowings against this
credit facility. At December 31, 2004, the Company had outstanding letters of credit of $5.3 million
against this credit facility. The credit agreement contains certain financial covenants, which include
maintenance of a minimum net worth, maintenance of a consolidated funded indebtedness to consoli-
dated earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and lease rental expenses, and
maintenance of a minimum cash flow coverage ratio. The Company was in compliance with these
covenants at December 31, 2004. The Company expects to continue to fund its liquidity needs and
anticipated capital expenditures with cash flows from operations, the credit facility, and other
borrowing arrangements related to revenue equipment purchases.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obligations

It is not the Company’s usual business practice to enter into off-balance sheet arrangements,
except for off-balance sheet arrangements related to operating lease commitments and letters of
credit for self-insured workers’ compensation reserves disclosed in the table of contractual obligations
below. While it is not the Company’s normal policy to issue guarantees to third parties, the Company
entered into lease arrangements in 2002 for revenue equipment that are classified as operating leases.
The lease agreements are for terms of 48 months and contain TRAC (terminal rental adjustment
clause) provisions, which require the Company to guarantee a termination value as a percentage of
the original cost of the leased equipment at the lease termination date. The maximum potential
amount the Company could be required to pay under the guarantee is $1.1 million.

The following tables set forth the Company’s contractual obligations as of December 31, 2004:

Payments Due by Period
(In thousands)

Less than 1-3 3-5 More than
Contractual Obligations Total one year Years Years § years
Long-termdebt ................... $ 36,301 $ 7,965 $19,294 $ 9,042 $ —
Interest on long-term debt ......... 3,983 1,548 1,959 476
Capital leases ..................... 12,816 9,990 2,826 — —
Interest on capital leases ........... . 669 562 107 — —
Purchase Obligations for Revenue ‘

Equipment ...................... 25,624 25,624 — — —
Operating leases .................. 17,550 2,954 4,302 2,170 8,124
Lettersof credit .................. 5,300 5,300 — — —
Guarantees ............coeuuunan... 1,050 — 1,050 — —
Total Obligations .................. $103,293 $53,943 $29,538 $11,688 $8,124

In 1999, the Company entered into a lease arrangement for its corporate office facility, which has
been financed by a special purpose entity (“SPE”) sponsored by a bank. The SPE was not consoli-
dated in the Company’s financial statements and the Company had accounted for this arrangement
as an operating lease in accordance with SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for Leases.” In conjunction with
this arrangement, the Company had a residual value guarantee of up to $11.2 million, plus selling
costs, if the Company did not exercise its purchase option and the property was sold for less than
$13.0 million, the Asset Termination Value. As discussed more fully in Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements, the Company evaluated the treatment of this leasing arrangement under Inter-
pretation No. 46 and concluded the pronouncement required the Company to record the asset and
related liability in its financial statements. The Company elected early adoption and the prospective
application provisions of Interpretation No. 46, and accordingly, recorded an asset of $11.2 million,
the related debt of $13.0 million, and a cumulative-effect adjustment of $1.1 million (net of tax
benefit of $0.7 million). The Company sold its rights in this property on December 23, 2003 and
concurrent with the sale signed a thirteen-year lease for the two-thirds of the building the Company
currently occupies. This transaction has been accounted for as a sale-leaseback and thus the related
asset and long-term debt balances have been removed from the balance sheet.

Forward-looking Statements

Statements included in this Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations, in the Company’s Annual Report, elsewhere in this Report, in future filings by
the Company with the SEC, in the Company’s press releases, and in oral statements made with the
approval of an authorized executive officer which are not historical or current facts, are forward-
looking statements made pursuant to safe harbor provisions of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. Such forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties
that could cause actual results to differ materially from historical results and those presently antici-
pated or projected. The Company wishes to caution readers not to place undue reliance on any
forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date made. The following important factors,
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among other things, in some cases have affected and in the future could affect the Company’s actual
results and could cause the Company’s actual financial performance to differ materially from that
expressed in any forward-looking statement: (1) the highly competitive conditions that currently exist
in the Company’s market and the Company’s ability to compete, (2) the Company’s ability to recruit,
train, and retain qualified drivers, (3) increases in fuel prices, and the Company’s ability to recover
these costs from its customers, {(4) the impact of environmental standards and regulations on new
revenue equipment, (5) changes in governmental regulations applicable to the Company’s operations,
including the changes related to hours of service which went into effect on January 4, 2004, (6)
adverse weather conditions, (7) accidents, (8) the market for used revenue equipment, (9) changes in
interest rates, (10) cost of liability insurance coverage, and (11) downturns in general economic condi-
tions affecting the Company and its customers. The foregoing list should not be construed as
exhaustive, and the Company disclaims any obligation subsequently to revise or update any previ-
ously made forward-looking statements. Unanticipated events are likely to occur.

Seasonality

As is typical in the truckload industry, the Company’s operations fluctuate seasonally according
to customer shipping patterns, which tend to peak in the summer and fall, then increase again after
the holiday and winter seasons. Operating expenses also tend to be higher during the cold weather
months, primarily due to lower fuel economy and increased maintenance costs.

Inflation

Many of the Company’s operating expenses are sensitive to the effects of inflation, which could
result in higher operating costs. With the exception of fuel price increases, the effects of inflation on
the Company’s business have not been significant during the last three years. The Company has in
place with the majority of its customers fuel surcharge provisions that allow the Company to partially
recover additional fuel costs when fuel prices exceed a certain reference price per gallon.

New Accounting Pronouncements to be adopted

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123R “Share based payment” which is a revision
to SFAS No. 123 “Accounting for Stock Based Compensation”. The provisions of this statement shall
be effective for interim periods beginning after June 15, 2005. This new accounting pronouncement
will require the Company to recognize in the income statement the grant-date fair value of stock-
based compensation issued to employees. The Company currently accounts for stock-based
compensation under the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” and related Interpretations. No stock-
based employee compensation cost is currently reflected in net income, but the Company does
disclose in its footnotes the effect on net income and earnings per share if the Company had applied
the fair value recognition provisions of Statement No. 123. The Company is still evaluating the
ultimate financial statement impact as it relates to Statement No. 123R, however, it does not
currently believe the impact will be significantly different from the amounts currently disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, “Exchanges of non-monetary assets, an
amendment of APB Opinion No. 9”. The provisions of this statement shall be effective for interim
periods beginning after June 15, 2005. The adoption of this new accounting standard is not expected
to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.

Item 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

The Company is exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates and commodity prices.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company is exposed to certain market risks with its $30 million credit agreement, of which
$0 was outstanding at December 31, 2004. The agreement bears interest at a variable rate, which was
5.75% at December 31, 2004. Consequently, the Company is exposed to the risk of greater borrowing
costs if interest rates increase.
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Commodity Price Risk

The price and availability of diesel fuel are subject to fluctuations due to changes in the level of
global oil production, seasonality, weather, and other market factors. Historically, the Company has
been able to recover a majority of fuel price increases from customers in the form of fuel surcharges.
The Company cannot predict the extent to which high fuel price levels will occur in the future or the
extent to which fuel surcharges could be collected to offset such increases. As of December 31, 2004,
the Company had no derivative financial instruments to reduce its exposure to fuel price fluctuations.

Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The financial statements described in Item 14(a)l of this report are incorporated herein. See
“Quarterly Financial Data” appearing on page F-24 of the audited consolidated financial statements,
which are incorporated herein, by reference. :

Item 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING
AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Company’s management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer,
have conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Rule 13a-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934 (the “1934 Act”) as of December 31, 2004. Based on that evaluation, the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and
procedures are effective in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by the Company in the
reports it files or submits under the 1934 Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within
the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.

There have been no changes in internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended
December 31, 2004 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.

PART 111

Item 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

For information concerning the Company’s executive officers, reference is made to. the informa-
tion set forth under the caption “Executive Officers” located in Item 1 of this Form 10-K. For
information concerning the Company’s directors and compliance by the Company’s directors,
executive officers and significant stockholders with the reporting requirements of Section 16(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, reference is made to the information set forth under
the captions “Election of Directors” and “Beneficial Ownership of Common Stock,” respectively, in
the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held on May 25, 2005,
to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A, which information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Reference is made to the information set forth under the caption “Executive Compensation and
Other Information” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to
be held on May 25, 2005, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A, which information is incorporated
herein by reference, except to the extent stated therein.
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Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND
MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Reference is made to the information set forth under the caption “Beneficial Ownership of
Common Stock” and under “Executive Compensation and Other Information — Equity Compensation
Plan Information” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be
held on May 25, 2005, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A, which information is incorporated
herein by reference.

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS

None.

Item 14, PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required by this item is incorporated by reference to the information set forth
under the heading “Approval of Auditors — Audit Fees” in the Company’s Proxy Statement for the
Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be held May 25, 2005, to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A,
which information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Documents filed as part of this Form 10-K

1. Consolidated Financial Statements

Form 10-K
Page
_Reference
Index to Consolidated Financial Statements .......................... .. F-1
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm .............. F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets ..............c i, F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations ............... .. ... ..coooo... F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity ....................... F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows ............. ...t F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ............ccovvvivininea.., F-7
2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules
Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules
Included in Part IV of this report:
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm .............. S-1
Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts ...................... S-2
(b) Exhibits
Exhibit
Number Description
3.1 Articles of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the

Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (File No. 33-84140) as
declared effective by the Commission on November 3, 1994 (the “1994
S-17).

32 Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the 1994 S-1).
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Exhibit
Number Description

4.1 Rights Agreement by and between the Company and Wells Fargo Bank
Minnesota, N.A. (formerly Norwest Bank Minnesota, N.A.) dated February
25, 1997 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form 8-A, as amended, filed with the SEC on
February 27, 1997, to Exhibit 1 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form 8-K/A, filed with the SEC on June 29, 1998; and to Exhibit 1 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A/A, filed with the SEC on
January 21, 2000).

10.1 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated as of October 5, 2001,
among LaSalle Bank, N.A., Firstar Bank, N.A. and the Company
{incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2001).

10.2 1986 Stock Option Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996).

10.3 401(k) Retirement Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the
1994 S-1).

104 Master Lease dated as of April 9, 1999, between the Company and
ABN/AMRO Leasing, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 1999).

10.5 Agreement to terminate lease and assignment dated December 23, 2003,
between the Company and ABN/AMRO Leasing, Inc. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2003).

10.6 Lease termination agreement dated as of December 23, 2003, between the
Company and ABN/AMRO Leasing, Inc. {(incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.6 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2003).

10.7 Form of Change in Control Severance Agreement (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended September 30, 1999).

10.8 Form of Vehicle Lease and Independent Contractor Agreement (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1996).

10.9 Description of the terms of employment of Michael J. Paxton (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2001).

10.10  Supplement to Employment Offer and Change in Control Agreement
between the Company and Keith R. Klein, dated December 31, 2001
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2001).

10.11 2001 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.12 to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000).

10.12 1995 Stock Plan, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to
the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1996).

10.13 Non-Plan, Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement of Michael J. Paxton
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8, filed with the SEC on September 6, 2002).
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Exhibit
Number Description

10.14  Description of the terms of employment of Craig A. Coyan, with Addendum,
dated July 1, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2003).

10.15  Severance Agreement between the Company and Richard R. Lane, dated
March 3, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the quarter ended December 31, 2003).

10.16  Description of the terms of employment of Ronald C. Kipp, dated October 3,
2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the quarter ended December 31, 2003).

10.17  Description of the terms of employment of Christopher R. Licht, dated
January 27, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the quarter ended December
31, 2003).

10.18  Severance Agreement between the Company and Christopher R. Licht, dated
October 3, 2004 (filed herewith).

10.19  Forms of incentive stock option agreement, non-qualified stock option
agreement and director stock option agreement under the Company’s 1995
Stock Plan (filed herewith).

21 Subsidiaries of the Registrant (filed herewith).

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (filed herewith).
311 Section 302 Certification of Chief Executive Officer (filed herewith).

312 Section 302 Certification of Chief Financial Officer (filed herewith).

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003 (filed
herewith).

322 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003 (filed
herewith). '

(c) Schedules

Reference is made to Item 15(a)2.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

TRANSPORT CORPORATION OF AMERICA, INC.
(“Registrant™)

Dated: March 3, 2005
By: /s/ MICHAEL J. PAXTON

Michael J. Paxton
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been
signed by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates
indicated.

Signature and Title Date

/s/ MICHAEL J. PAXTON March 3, 2005

Michael J. Paxton
Chairman, President, and Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ KEITH R. KLEIN March 3, 2005

Keith R. Klein
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Information Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

/s/ WILLIAM D. SLATTERY March 3, 2005
William D. Slattery, Director

/s/ ANTON J. CHRISTIANSON March 3, 2005 |
Anton J. Christianson, Director

/s/ WILLIAM P. MURNANE March 3, 2005
William P. Murnane, Director

/s/ KENNETH J. ROERING March 3, 2005
Kenneth J. Roering, Director

/s! CHARLES M. OSBORNE March 3, 2005
Charles M. Osborne, Director

/s/f THOMAS R. MCBURNEY March 3, 2005
Thomas R. McBurney, Director
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TRANSPORT CORPORATION OF AMERICA, INC,

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Transport Corporation of America, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Transport Corporation of
America, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related
conselidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 2004. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting
Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An aundit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all
material respects, the financial position of Transport Corporation of America, Inc. and subsidiaries as
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of
the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted the provi-
sions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,
on January 1, 2002 and the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities, on July 1, 2003.

/st KPMG LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 25, 2005
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2004
Assets
Current assets: :
Cash and cash equivalents ............... ... ... ... ... § 3714
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowances for doubtful account
and other billing adjustments of $800 in 2004 and $766 in 2003 ... 24,610
Other receivables ........... . it i i e 1,170
Operating supplies — INVentory ................coiiieenneenn.. 800
Deferred income tax benefit (note 7) ......... ... ... 6,316
Prepaid EXPenses .. ....uuuiiiiit i 2,626
Total CUITENT ASSETS . vt v ittt ettt ettt 39,236
Property and equipment:
Land, buildings, and improvements .................ouoieiieonn. 16,516
Revenue equipment (note 1 and 9) ...............oiviiiiiin. 180,827
Other eqQUIPMENT .. vttt et et et rirnenannrernns 21,219
Total property and equipment ...............ciiiiiiiiiiiia, 218,562
Less accumulated depreciation ............. ... ... oo (98,776)
Property and equipment,net ............ ..o, 119,786
Other assets, net (NOLE 2) ......viiiitti i, 2,056
Total @SSEIS .ottt e e $161,078
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current liabilities:
Current maturities of long-term debt (note 3) ................... § 7965
Current maturities of capital lease obligations (note 9) ........... 9,990
Accounts payable ........ ... ... 5,026
Checks issued in excess of cash balances ........................ 1,871
Due to independent contractors .................. ..., 1,157
Accrued expenses (OTE 4) ...ttt 21,132
Total current iabilities .. .. ...t it i 47,141
Long-term debt, less current maturities (note 3) ................... 28,336
Capital lease obligations, less current maturities (note 9) ........... 2,826
Deferred income taxes (NOte 7) . .....oviiiiiriiiii e 26,504

TRANSPORT CORPORATION OF AMERICA, INC.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(In thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31,

Commitments and contingencies (note 1, 5 and 9)

Stockholders’ equity (note 5):
Common stock, $.01 par value; 15,000,000 shares authorized,
6,527,392 and 7,141,730 shares issued and outstanding as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively .....................

Additional paid-in capital ......... ... . 25,428
Retained earnings ............. o i i 30,778
Total stockholders’ equity ... 56,271
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity .......................... $161,078

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2003

$ 2345

24978
1,200
813
6,452
2,894

38,682

16,237
180,970
21,436

218,643

(94,102)
124,541
2,045

$165,268

$ 8843
4,328
3,526
1,066
1,545

19,407

38,715

28,929
12,820

26,103

71
29,889
28,741

58,701
$165,268



TRANSPORT CORPORATION OF AMERICA, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Years ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Operating reVENUES ... ....vtueeniiiennen. $258,408 $258,859 $273,227
Operating expenses:
Salaries, wages, and benefits ....................... 76,129 71,080 80,289
Fuel, maintenance, and other expenses ............. 42,909 38,933 38,903
Purchased transportation ......................... 79,144 91,516 91,706
Revenue equipment leases ........................ 1,266 1,069 841
Depreciation and amortization .................... 23,757 25,104 27,474
Insurance, claims and damage ..................... 12,496 12,287 13,615
Taxes and licenses ...t iiiennn 4,604 4,556 4,986
Communications ............... e 1,788 2,194 2,576
Other general and administrative expenses .......... 9,824 9,611 9,052
Impairment of revenue equipment ................. — (549) 4,741
Loss (gain) on sale of property and equipment ...... 25 (1,302) (36)
Total operating expenses ...................o.... 251,942 254,499 274,147
Operating income (10ss) ..........cccviiiiiioann. 6,466 4,360 (920)
Interest exXpense ...l 3,281 4,312 5,571
Interest iNCOME . ...t iin e eeeinennnes (166) (189) (124)
Interest expense, net ................ e 3,115 4,123 5,447
Earnings (loss) before income taxes and cumulative
effect of changes in accounting principle ............. 3,351 237 (6,367)
Provision (benefit) for income taxes (note 7) .......... 1,314 163 (2,711)
Earnings (loss) before cumulative effect of changes in
accounting principle .......... .. il $ 2,037 $ 74 $ (3,656)
Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principle,
net of tax effects (note 1) .................. . .. ... — (1,153) (16,694)
Net income (l0SS) .. ..vvrenien i, $ 2037 $ (1,079) $(20,350)
Net earnings (loss) per share — basic:
Before cumulative effect of changes in accounting
principle ... .. $ 030 $ o001 $ (0.50)
Net earnings (loss) per share ...................... $ 030 $ (0.135) $ (281
Net earnings (loss) per share — diluted:
Before cumulative effect of changes in accounting
principle ... $ 030 $ 001 $ (0.50)
Net earnings (loss) per share ...................... $ 030 $ (0.195) $ (2.81)
Average common shares outstanding:
BasiC ...t N 6,722 7,171 7,243
Diluted ... 6,841 7,204 7,243

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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TRANSPORT CORPORATION OF AMERICA, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(In thousands, except share amounts)

Balance, December 31,2001 ........

Common stock options and stock

purchase plan ..................

Purchase and retirement of

common stock .................

Tax benefit related to employee

stock option transactions ........
Netloss .......ccooiiii .

Balance, December 31,2002 ........

Common stock options and stock

purchase plan ..................

Purchase and retirement of

common stock .................
Netloss .....oovininn..

Balance, December 31,2003 ........

Common stock options and stock

purchase plan ..................

Purchase and retirement of

common stock .................

Tax benefit related to employee

stock option transactions ........
Netincome .....................

Balance, December 31,2004 ........

Common Stock Additionat Total
paid-in Retained stockholders’
Shares Amount capital earnings equity
7,203,815 $72 $30,205 $ 50,170 $ 80,447
54,016 — 306 — 306
(38,000) — (189) — (189)
— — 8 — 8
- = = — (20,350) (20,350)
7,219,831 $72 $30,330 $ 29,820 $ 60,222
6,599 — 29 — 29
(84,700) 1) (470) — (471)
— — — (1,079) (1,079)
7,141,730 $71 $29,889 $ 28,741 $ 58,701
11,662 — 64 — 64
(626,000) (6) (4,529) — (4,535)
— — 4 — 4
- = — 2,037 2,037
6,527,392 $65 $25,428 $ 30,778 $ 56,271

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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TRANSPORT CORPORATION OF AMERICA, INC.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(In thousands)

Years ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

Operating activities:
Net income (10SS) ... ..vvvttrne i $ 2,037 $ (1,079)  $(20,350)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization ........................ 23,757 25,104 27474
Effect of changes in accounting principle, net of tax ..... — 1,153 16,694
Effect of revenue equipment impairment charge ......... — (549) 4,741
Loss (gain) on sale of property and equipment .......... 25 (1,302) (36)
Deferred income taxes ..............ccoiiiiiiiaaan.. 537 (1,353) (2,641)
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Trade receivables ............ ... ... i, 368 3,396 (1,510)
Lease and other receivables .......... .. ... .. .. ... ... 30 1,634 3,593
Operating supplies ............ ... . i i, 13 263 120
Prepaid eXpenses ...........oocuiiiiiiiiiiieiiain.. 268 (936) (51)
Other assets ... -1 2,074 (773)
Accounts payable ....... ... .. oot 1,500 (901) (1,446)
Due to independent contractors ..................... (388) (113) 162
AcCTUEd EXPENSES .« v v vttt e 1,725 1,487 3,213
Net cash provided by operating activities ............... 29,861 28,878 29,190
Investing activities:
Purchases of revenue equipment ......................... -(25,142) (19,677) (21,606)
Purchases of property and other equipment ............... (1,014) (827) (1,443)
Proceeds from sales of equipment ....................... 7,129 9,190 15,433
Net cash used in investing activities .................... _(19,027) (11,314) (7,616)

Financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, and exercise of

options and warrants .............. . .0, 68 29 314
Payments for purchase and retirement of common stock ... (4,535) (471) (189)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt ................ 20,639 20,463 21,393
Principal payments on long-term debt .................... (26,442) (32,526) (27,861)
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable to bank .......... 100 60,100 57,400
Principal payments on notes payable to bank ............. (100) (62,600) (73,900)
Change in net checks issued in excess of cash balances ..... 805 (338) 286

Net cash used in financing activities .................... (9,4653) (15,343) (22,557)
Net increase (decrease) incash ...............cccviuue... 1,369 . 2.221 (983)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year ................ 2,345 124 1,107
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year ..................... $ 3,714 $ 2,345 $ 124

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid (received) during the year for:

Interest ... e $ 3017 $ 4120 § 5411
Income taxes, net ........... ..ot 1,038 1,354 199
Supplemental Schedule of noncash investing and financing
activities:
Lease receivables from disposition of revenue equipment ... $ — $ 2208 $ 3,945

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

F-6




TRANSPORT CORPORATION OF AMERICA, INC.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Nature of Business

Nature of Business

Transport Corporation of America, Inc. (the “Company”) is a truckload motor carrier engaged in
the transportation of a variety of general commodities for customers principally in the United States
and portions of Canada, pursuant to nationwide operating authority. Customer freight is transported
by Company equipment and by independent contractors. Payments to Company drivers and indepen-
dent contractors are primarily based upon miles driven.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include all accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries, TA Logistics, Inc., FV Leasing Company, TCA of Ohio, Inc., and Transport International
Express, Inc. (“TIE”). All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in
consolidation. ’

Revenue Recognition

Operating revenues are recognized when the freight to be transported has been loaded. The
Company operates primarily in the short-to-medium length of haul category of the trucking industry;
therefore, the Company’s typical customer delivery is completed within two days after pickup.
Accordingly, this method of revenue recognition is not materially different from recognizing revenue
based on completion of delivery. Amounts payable to independent contractors for purchased trans-
portation, to Company drivers for wages and any other direct expenses are accrued when the related
revenue is recognized.

Lease Receivables

The Company has lease receivables for equipment leased to drivers and recorded as direct-
finance capital leases. At December 31, 2004, approximately $0.5 million is included in other
receivables and $0.1 million is included in Other Assets. Deferred interest income is recorded at the
time of lease inception and amortized over the life of the lease.

Revenue Equipment, Property, and Other Equipment

Revenue equipment, property, and other equipment are recorded at cost. Costs for repairs and
maintenance are charged to operations. Depreciation, including amortization of capitalized leases, is
computed using the straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the assets or the lease
periods, whichever is shorter. At December 31, 2004, the Company had $25.6 million outstanding
commitments for the purchase or lease of revenue equipment in 2005.

The estimated useful lives for new equipment when placed in service are as follows:

Years
TEACLOTS .o ettt 4-6
Trailers oo e 8-12
Building improvements . ...........uuertiii e 10-30
Buildings . ... ..o 30-40
Other equipment, including computers and furniture ................. 3-8

Tires

Tires placed on new equipment after December 31, 1996, are capitalized as part of revenue
equipment and amortized over its estimated life. Tires placed on new equipment prior to December
31, 1996, are included in other assets (net) and are capitalized and recorded as prepaid tires and
amortized over their estimated life. Replacement tires are expensed when placed in service.
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Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Long-lived assets and certain identifiable intangibles are reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recover-
able. Recoverability of assets to be held and used is measured by a comparison of the carrying
amount of an asset to future net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by the asset. If
such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the
amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceed the fair value of the assets. Assets to be
disposed of are reported at the lower of the carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell.

During March 2002, the Company initiated a plan to accelerate the disposal of approximately
260 tractors and 500 trailers. As a result of the change in utilization period and related estimated
cash flows, the Company recorded a pre-tax $4.7 million impairment charge under Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 144 related to this disposition of revenue equipment.
The estimated fair value of the revenue equipment was based on a combination of market quotes
and independent appraisals of the equipment. The tractors identified for accelerated disposition
represent over-the-road units not covered by manufacturer guaranteed residual value programs. The
trailers to be disposed were identified as being in excess of the Company’s needs. Subsequently, an
analysis of the initial impairment reserve demonstrated that the ultimate impairment charge on this
disposal program was less than originally estimated and the reserve was reduced by $1.0 million in
the fourth quarter of 2002 and a further $278,000 in the first quarter of 2003. This disposal program
was completed during the second quarter 2003. ‘

The following is an analysis of the Company’s asset impairment reserve accounts:

Revenue
equipment
impairment
(Dollars in
thousands)
Balance as of December 31,2001 ..........cc it $ —
Initial Charge ...t i e 4,741
UHHZALOM . 4\ ettt e e e e (2,782)
Change in eStimate .........ovuirn ettt (1,000)
Balance as of December 31,2002 ....... ... ... . i 959
UtHzZation .. ... e (681)
Change in estimate ..........coiiiiieeiii it (278)
Balance as of December 31,2003 ....... ..o $ —
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During the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company established a new disposal program of an addi-
tional 400 trailers that were disposed of in 2003. The pre-tax impairment charge on this new disposal
program was approximately $1.0 million. Subsequently, an analysis of this impairment reserve demon-
strated that the ultimate impairment charge on this disposal program was less than originally
estimated and the reserve was reduced by $271,000 in the fourth quarter of 2003. This disposal
program was completed during the fourth quarter 2003.

Revenue
equipment
impairment
(Dollars in
thousands)

Balance as of December 31,2001 ... ...t $ —
Initial Charge ...t e 1,000
Ut zZation ottt e e e e e e —

Balance as of December 31,2002 ........ ... . i 1,000
UtIHZAation ...t e (729)
Change in estimate ........ ...t (271)

Balance as of December 31,2003 ... i 3 —

Goodwill

In 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”. SFAS No. 142
requires that goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite useful lives no longer be amortized, but
instead tested for impairment at least annually. As a result of its adoption of SFAS No. 142 on
January 1, 2002, the Company recorded a $16.7 million impairment charge for goodwill, net of tax
benefit of $7.7 million, which has been reported as a cumulative effect of change in accounting
principle. The fair value of the Company was determined based on quoted market prices for the
Company’s common stock.

A roll-forward of goodwill for the years ended December 31 is as follows:

Year ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
(Dollars in thousands)
Balance at beginning of year ......... ... .. il $— $— $ 24,366
Goodwill amortization ......... ... .o — —_ —
Impairment charge ........... ... i = = (24,366)
Balance at end of year ............. ... ... il N $— $— $ —

Operating Supplies
Operating supplies representing repair parts, fuel, and replacement tires for revenue equipment
are recorded at cost.

Accounting Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Estimated Liability for Insurance Claims

The Company maintains automobile, general, cargo, and workers’ compensation claim liability
insurance coverage under both deductible and retrospective rating policies. The Company maintains a
self-insurance program with a qualified department of risk management professionals.
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For the policy year from January to December 2002, the Company assumed liability for claims
up to $1.0 million, plus administrative expense, for each occurrence involving personal injury or
property damage. The Company was also responsible for the first $600,000 aggregate for claims
occurring in the layer between $1.0 million and $5.0 million. Liability for claims in excess of the self-
insured retention, if it occurred, was covered under premium-based policies with reputable insurance
companies to coverage levels that management considers adequate. For the policy period from
January to October 2003, the Company assumed liability for the first $§750,000 per occurrence, plus an
additional 25% pro-rata share on the layer between $750,000 and $3.0 million, plus administrative
expenses, for each occurrence involving personal injury or property damage. Liability for claims in
excess of the self-insured retention, if it occurred, was covered under premium-based policies with
reputable insurance companies to coverage levels that management considers adequate. The
Company has renewed these same terms for the policy year beginning November 2003 and 2004.

The Company has assumed responsibility for workers’ compensation and has obtained insurance
for individual claims above $250,000 per occurrence. Under these insurance arrangements, the
Company maintains $5.3 million in letters of credit as of December 31, 2004.

The Company accrues for health insurance claims reported, as well as for claims incurred but
not reported, based upon the Company’s past experience. The Company has obtained insurance for
individual claims above $175,000 per participant.

In the month claims are reported, the Company estimates and establishes a liability for its share
of ultimate settlements using all available information, coupled with the Company’s history of such
claims. Claim estimates are adjusted when additional information becomes available. The recorded
expense depends upon actual loss experience and changes in estimates of settlement amounts for
open claims that have not been fully resolved. However, final settlement of these claims could differ
materially from the amounts the Company has accrued at year-end.

Stock-Based Employee Compensation

The Company has adopted the disclosure provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and Disclosure”
(Statement No. 148). Statement No. 148 amends the disclosure requirements of Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (Statement No.
123). As of December 31, 2004, the Company has two stock-based employee compensation plans,
which are described more fully in Note 5. The Company. accounts for these plans under the recogni-
tion and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for
Stock Issued to Employees,” and related Interpretations. No stock-based employee compensation cost
is reflected in net income, as all options granted under these plans had an exercise price equal to the
market value of the common stock on the date of grant. The following table illustrates the effect on
net income and earnings per share if the Company had applied the fair value recognition provisions
of Statement No. 123:

2004 2003 2002

(In thousands except per share amounts)

Net earnings (loss):

Asreported . ... $2,037 $(1,079) $(20,350)

Pro forma expense, netof taxes ........................ 230 373 354

Proforma .......... ... oo $1,807 $(1,452) $(20,704)
Net basic earnings (loss) per share:

As Teported ... e $ 0.30 $ (0.15) $ (2.81)

Proforma ......... i $ 0.27 $ (0.20) $ (2.86)
Net diluted earnings (loss) per share:

Asreported .. ... $ 0.30 $ (0.15) § (281

Proforma ........ ... ... $ 0.26 $ (0200 $ (2.86)

The above pro forma amounts may not be representative of the effects on reported net (loss)
earnings for future years.
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The fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
options-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions used for grants in 2004, 2003,
and 2002:

2004 2003 2002
Dividend yield ......... ..o 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Expected volatility ..., 23.0% 40.0% 55.0%
Risk-free interest rate .......... ... ..o 43% 3.9% 5.0%
Expected lives ......... ... i 7 years 8 years 10 years
Weighted average fair value of options granted ........ $2.55 $2.98 $4.04

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to
differences between the amounts presented on the consolidated financial statements for the existing
assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary
differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of
a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date.

Net Earnings Per Share: Basic and Diluted

Basic net earnings per common share is computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted net earnings per share is computed by dividing net earnings by the weighted average
number of potential common shares outstanding, assuming exercise of dilutive stock options. The
potential common shares are computed using the treasury stock method based upon the average
market price of the Company’s stock during each period. The Company had net earnings before
cumulative effect of change in accounting principle for the year ended December 31, 2004 so the
effects of potential common shares were included in the calculation to the extent their impact was
dilutive. Because the Company suffered net losses for the year’s ended December 31, 2003, and 2002,
the effects of potential common shares were not included in the calculation as their effects would be
anti-dilutive. Stock options outstanding at December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 and excluded from the
calculation totaled 0, 510,603, and 520,159, respectively.

Computation of Earnings (Loss) per Common Share
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Years ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Net earnings (108S) .. .....ovviree i, § 2,037 $ (1,079 § (20,350)
Average number of common shares outstanding ....... 6,722,157 7,171,368 7,242,893
Dilutive effect of outstanding stock options ........... 119,038 32,322 —
Average number of common and common equivalent

shares outstanding ............. ... i i, 6,341,195 7,203,690 7,242,893
Basic earnings (loss) per share ...................... $ 0.30 $ (015 § (2.81)
Diluted earnings (loss) per share .................... $ 0.30 $ (015) § (2.81)

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities, excluding debt, approximates
fair value because of their short-term nature. The fair value of the Company’s revenue equipment
debt, if recalculated based on current interest rates at December 31, 2004, would approximate $48.2
million compared with a carrying value of $49.1 million. At December 31, 2003, it approximated $54.8
million, compared with a carrying value of $54.9 million.
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Statements of Cash Flows

For purposes of the statements of cash flows, the Company considers all highly liquid invest-
ments with initial maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued SFAS No. 143,
“Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations” effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15,
2002. The standard requires businesses to record the fair value of a liability for an asset retirement
obligation in the period in which it is incurred. It has been determined that SFAS 143 applies to
environmental disposal fees related to tractor and trailer tires. As a result of its adoption of SFAS
No. 143 in the first quarter of 2003, the Company established a liability of $212,000 for the fair value
of tire disposal fees. In addition, the Company recorded a prepaid asset related to tire disposal fees
of $106,000 and a charge of $64,000, net of a tax benefit of $42,000, representing the cumulative
effect of the change in accounting principle.

In January 2003, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation
No. 46, “Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities” (FIN 46), which requires an entity to consolidate
a variable interest entity if it is the primary beneficiary of that entity even if the entity does not have
a majority of voting interests. A variable interest entity is generally defined as an entity where its
equity is inadequate to finance its activities or where the owners of the entity lack the risk and
rewards of ownership. The provisions of this statement apply at inception for any entity created after
January 31, 2003. For an entity created before February 1, 2003, the provisions of this interpretation
were initially effective in the first fiscal year or interim period beginning after June 15, 2003. On
October 8, 2003, the FASB deferred the implementation date from interim periods beginning after
June 15, 2003 to interim periods ending after December 15, 2003 (or later, in certain circumstances).
The Company elected early adoption and the prospective application provisions of Interpretation No.
46 during the quarter ended September 30, 2003. In 1999, the Company entered into a lease arrange-
ment for its corporate office facility, which had been financed by a special purpose entity (“SPE”)
sponsored by a bank. The SPE was not consolidated in the Company’s financial statements and the
Company had accounted for this arrangement as an operating lease in accordance with SFAS No. 13,
“Accounting for Leases.” In conjunction with this arrangement, the Company had a residual value
guarantee of up to $11.2 million, plus selling costs, if the Company did not exercise its purchase
option and the property was sold for less than $13.0 million, the Asset Termination Value. The
Company evaluated the treatment of this leasing arrangement under Interpretation No. 46 and
concluded the pronouncement required the Company to record the asset and related liability in its
financial statements; accordingly, the Company recorded an asset of $11.2 million, the related debt of
$13.0 million, and a cumulative-effect charge adjustment of $1.1 million (net of tax benefit of $0.7
million) in the third quarter of 2003.

(2) Other Assets

Other assets at December 31, 2004 primarily include long-term lease receivables and equipment
available for lease of $1.4 million and capitalized tires of $0.4 million. Other assets at December 31,
2003 primarily include long-term lease receivables and equipment available for lease of $0.7 million
and capitalized tires of $0.7 million.

(3) Credit Facility and Long-Term Debt

The Company has a credit agreement for a secured credit facility with maximum combined
borrowings and letters of credit of $30 million. Amounts actually available under the credit facility
are limited by the Company’s accounts receivable and unencumbered revenue equipment. At
December 31, 2004, there were outstanding borrowings and letters of credit of $0 and $5.3 million,
respectively. Net of actual outstanding borrowings and letters of credit at December 31, 2004, the
Company had available additional borrowings of $19.8 million. The credit agreement expires May 4,
2007. At December 31, 2004, the interest rate on outstanding borrowings was 5.75%.

The credit agreement contains certain financial covenants, which include maintenance of a
minimum net worth, maintenance of a consolidated funded indebtedness to consolidated earnings
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before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization and lease rental expenses, and maintenance of a
minimum cash flow coverage ratio. The Company was in compliance with these covenants at
December 31, 2004.

The following is a summary of data relating to the credit facility:

Years ended December 31,

2004 2003
(In thousands)
Outstanding balance at yearend ........................ ... ..., : § — $ -
Average amount outstanding ........... ... oo i — 1,165
Maximum amount Outstanding .. ..........iiiiiiir i 100 5,600
Weighted average interest rate during the year .................... 5.08% 5.08%
Commitment fee on unused balances .....................oo.oo... 0.25% 0.40%

In 1998, as part of its acquisition of North Star, the Company issued 1.2 million shares of
common stock with a non-detachable put option. In January 2000, 45,000 shares of this were
converted to common stock. In December 2000, the Company repurchased the remaining 1,155,000
shares for $11.7 million of subordinated debt and $7.8 million in cash. In September 2001, and again
in October 2002, the Company renegotiated and amended the terms of this subordinated debt. The
debt was payable through fixed quarterly payments and variable quarterly payments based on actual
earnings. In October 2001 proceeds of $1.4 million received from the sale of the Company’s previous
headquarters were used to reduce the outstanding debt as required by the agreement. In October
2002, another principal payment of $4.0 million was made to reduce the outstanding debt to $4.6
million, as allowed by the second amendment. Scheduled quarterly principal payments aggregating
$1.0 million were made through September 2003 to reduce the outstanding debt to $3.6 million.
During December 2003, the remaining balance of the subordinated debt was paid off.

Long-term debt consists of the following:

December 31,
2004 2003
(In thousands)

Notes payable to banks and other financial institutions with equipment

with interest rates ranging from 4.0% t0 7.76% ....... ... i $36,301 $37,772
Less current maturities of long-term debt ............. ... .. ... ... .... 7,965 8,843
Long-term debt, less current maturities ...............ovivereeninnna... $28,336 $28,929

The aggregate annual maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 2004, are as follows:

Years ended December 31, Amount
(In thousands)
2004 L e $ 7,965
2005 e e e e e e 7,687
2000 o e 11,607
2007 o 4,297
2008 e e e e 4,745
Total . e $36,301

The carrying value of assets pledged as collateral against the notes payable includes revenue
equipment totaling $39.2 million at December 31, 2004. The carrying value of assets pledged as collat-
eral against the secured credit facility includes revenue equipment totaling $5.8 million and accounts
receivable totaling $24.8 million.

F-13




TRANSPORT CORPORATION OF AMERICA, INC.

(4) Accrued Expenses
Accrued expenses are as follows:

December 31,
2004 2003

(In thousands)
Salaries, wages and benefits ........ ... . i i i $ 3,453 $ 3,246
Insurance, claims and damage ..............i i 11,570 10,063
Insurance, medical and dental ........ ... .. . i i, 1,790 1,710
Workers COmPensation . ..........uiuenrentiiiiiiinenetienaneeennn 2,577 2,478
0 (1 1,231 1,353
O T .o i e e e 511 557
Total .. e e e e e e $21,132 $19,407

(5) Stockholders’ Equity
Stockholder Rights Plan and Preferred Stock Distribution

The Company has adopted a stockholder rights plan, which provides for a dividend of one
Preferred Stock Purchase Right (“Right”) for each outstanding share of the Company’s common
stock. The plan and dividend become operative in certain events involving the acquisition of 15% or
more of the Company’s voting stock by any person or group in a transaction not approved by the
Board of Directors.

Each Right entitles the holder to purchase one two-hundredths of a share of Series A Junior
Participating Preferred Stock for $60 upon the occurrence of certain specified events. Additionally,
the Rights entitle the holder, upon the occurrence of certain specified events, to purchase common
stock having a value of twice the exercise price of the Right; upon the occurrence of certain other
specified events, to purchase from an entity acquiring at least 15% of the voting securities or voting
power of the Company, common stock of the acquiring entity having twice the exercise price of the
Right. The Rights may be redeemed by the Company at a price of $0.001 per Right. The Rights
expire on February 25, 2007, and are not presently exercisable.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

In 2001, the Company adopted an Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “2001 Plan”). The 2001
Plan replaced the Company’s prior employee stock purchase plan adopted in 1996 (the “1996 Plan”).
The provisions of the 1996 Plan are substantially the same as the 2001 Plan. The purpose of the 2001
Plan is to encourage employees to purchase shares of common stock in the Company, thereby
providing a greater alignment of interests between the Company and its employees. There are
100,000 shares of the Company’s common stock reserved for issuance under the 2001 Plan, which
terminates on December 31, 2011.

The 2001 Plan permits employees to purchase shares of common stock of the Company at a
price equal to the lesser of 85% of the market value of the common stock at the commencement or
termination dates of each phase. Each year, during the term of the 2001 Plan, there are two
six-month phases commencing on January 1 and July 1, respectively. Employees who have been
employed for one year and who are regularly scheduled to work more than 20 hours per week and
who are less than 5% owners are eligible to participate in the 2001 Plan via payroll deductions.
Purchases are limited to 10% of a participant’s base pay during the respective phase,

During 2004, 2003, and 2002, employees purchased 5,788, 5,148, and 8,636 shares, respectively, at
average prices of $6.41, $4.28, and $4.67, per share, respectively, under the Plans.

TA Rewards Program

The Company had an incentive program to reward employee drivers and independent contractor
drivers who achieve certain performance and safety goals. Under this program, drivers were awarded
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points on a quarterly basis for achieving their safety and performance goals. Drivers could redeem
these points for various rewards, including shares of the Company’s common stock.

In 1998, the Board approved the TA Rewards Program - Stock Component (“TA Rewards™).
TA Rewards provided for the issuance of up to 100,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for
driver redemptions of their TA Rewards points. During 2004, 2003, and 2002, 1,899, 1,451, and 6,654
common shares, respectively, were issued under this program. The TA Rewards program was termi-
nated on December 31, 2002. Eligible participants had until December 31, 2003 to redeem points. The
1,899 shares issued in 2004 were for points redeemed as of December 31, 2003.

Stock Option Plans

The Company has adopted two stock option plans that allow for the grant of options to officers
and other key employees to purchase common shares at an exercise price not less than 100% of fair
market value on the date of grant. Officers and other key employees of the Company who are
responsible for, or contribute to, the management, growth and/or profitability of the business of the
Company, as well as selected consultants under contract to the Company and non-employee directors
are eligible to be granted awards.

These option plans allow for the grant of up to 1,050,000 shares. Options generally vest in cumu-
lative annual increments over periods from one to four years and expire five or ten years from date
of issuance. At December 31, 2004, the exercise prices of outstanding options ranged from $4.53 to
$7.85 with a weighted average contractual life of approximately 9.2 years.

The following table summarizes information about fixed stock options outstanding at December
31, 2004:

Outstanding options Exercisable options

Exercise Weighted average Weighted Weighted
Pprice remaining average average

range Number contractual life  exercise price Number exercise price
$2.50 - 5.00 11,500 5.4 years $4.57 7,750 $4.60
5.00 - 7.50 469,205 6.1 years 577 351,537 5.82
7.50 - 10.00 136,025 9.4 years 7.80 4,000 7.80
616,730 363,287

Option transactions are summarized as follows:

Weighted average

Shares exercise price
2004 2003 2002 2004 2003 2002
Options outstanding at
beginning of year ........... 510,603 520,159 492,018 $ 6.19 $6.54 $6.65
Granted ................... 161,855 82,322 96,794 7.3 5.88 5.97
Canceled or Expired ........ (51,753) (91,878) (29,927) 10.96 7.88 7.37
Exercised .................. _(3,975) — (38,726) 5.70 — 5.81
Options outstanding at end of
VEAT et 616,730 510,603 520,159 $ 6.20 $6.19 $6.54
Options exercisable at end of
VEAT vttt 363,287 279,111 218,779 $ 5.82 $6.70 $7.84
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Stock Repurchase Plan

In 1997, the Board of Directors approved repurchasing up to 350,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock. As of December 31, 2003, the Company had repurchased 229,400 shares, leaving
120,600 shares available for repurchase under this authority. In March 2004, the Board of Directors
approved repurchasing an additional 500,000 shares of the Company’s common stock. In May 2004,
the Board of Directors again approved repurchasing another 500,000 shares of the Company’s
common stock. During 2004, the Company repurchased 626,000 shares of its own common stock,
leaving 494,600 shares available for repurchase under this combined authority.

(6) Employee Benefit Plans

The Company has a savings retirement plan (the “Plan”) for eligible employees under Section
401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Plan allows employees to defer amounts of their compen-
sation on a pretax basis subject to IRS limitations. The Company may, at its discretion, match a
portion of the employee deferrals. During 2004, 2003, and 2002, the Company contributed amounts
equal to one-fourth of the employee deferrals, up to 1% of each participant’s compensation. For
participants who are employed as truck drivers with pay based on actual miles driven, the Company
may also elect to contribute ¥%¢ and 1¢ per paid mile driven for drivers with over one and two years
of service, respectively. On behalf of all employees, the Company contributed $628,000, $535,000, and
$661,000 to the Plan in 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively.

(7) Income Taxes

Total income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was
allocated as follows:

2004 2003 2002
Earnings (loss) before cumulative effect of changes in
accounting prinCiple . ..........iiiiiiii $1,314 $ 163 $ (2,711)
Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principle .......... — (725) (7,673)
Total . e $1,314 $(562) $(10,384)

The provision (benefit) for income taxes attributable from earnings (loss) before income taxes
and cumulative effect of changes in accounting principle consists of the following:

Current Deferred Total
(In thousands)

For the year ended December 31, 2004:

Federal . ... $ 459 $ 685 $ 1,144
SEAE oottt e e 318 (148) 170
Total $ 777 § 537 $ 1,314

For the year ended December 31, 2003:
Federal ........uuiiirii i e $1,475 $(1,323) $ 152
State ....... ... ... e 453 (442) 11
Total e $1,928 $(1,765) $ 163

For the year ended December 31, 2002:
Federal ...... ... ... . $ (299) $(1,920) $(2,219)
StatE .o e 188 (680) (492)
Total ..ot e $ (111)  $(2,600)  $(2,711)
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The income tax expense (benefit) attributable to earnings (loss) before income taxes and cumu-
lative effect of changes in accounting principle differs from the “expected” tax expense (benefit) as
follows for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002:

2004 2003 2002
(In thousands)

Expected federal tax expense (benefit) at statutory rates ...... $1,140 $ 80 $(2,165)
Increases in taxes resulting from:

State income taxes, net of federal effect ................... 112 7 (325)

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes .................. 62 72 78

Favorable resolution of tax contingency .................... = — (299)

Other ... — 4 —

Actual tax expense (benefit) ............ ...t $1,314 $163 $(2,711)

The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities at December 31, 2004 and 2003, are presented below:

2004 2003 .
(In thousands)

Deferred tax assets:

Intangible assets ... .. ...ttt $ 5,018 $ 5,606
Insurance, claims, and damage reserves ............cooviniiiiiiaa., 5,414 5,374
Vacation accrual ...t i e e e 416 404
Allowance for doubtful accounts ........... .. ... .. ... 357 296
Federal & state alternative minimum tax credit carryforward .......... 23 53
O T o e e e 242 233

Total deferred tax assets ...ttt e e e e 11,470 11,966

Deferred tax liabilities:
Equipment, principally due to differences in depreciation and lease

ACCOUNTIIIE . o v vt ettt et sttt et et e e e e e e eee $31,658 $31,617
Total deferred tax liabilities ............ it ... 31,658 31,617
Net deferred tax liability ....... ... .00 oo $20,188 $19,651

These amounts are presented in the accompanying balance sheet as follows:

2004 2003
Current deferred tax aSSet ... .ovvriiet ittt $ 6,316 $ 6,452
Noncurrent deferred tax liability ......... .. ... it 26,504 26,103
Net deferred tax liability ...... ... .. .. i $20,188 $19,651
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At December 31, 2004, the Company had state alternative minimum tax credit carry-forwards of
approximately $23,000, which are available to reduce future state income taxes, if any, over an indefi-
nite period.

In assessing its realizability of deferred tax assets, the Company considers whether it is more
likely than not that some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realiza-
tion of deferred tax assets is dependent on the generation of future taxable income during the
periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Based on the Company’s scheduling
of taxable temporary differences, which generate sufficient taxable income in future periods to offset
deductible temporary differences as of December 31, 2004, management believes that it is more likely
than not the Company will realize the benefits of these temporary differences and therefore no
valuation allowance is needed.

During the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively, $3,500, $0, and $8,000
was added to additional paid-in capital in accordance with APB No. 25 reflecting the permanent
book to tax difference in accounting for tax benefits related to employee stock option transactions.

(8) Major Customers

Sales to the Company’s five largest customers represented 33%, 29%, and 32% of total revenues
for 2004, 2003, and 2002, respectively. The Company’s largest customer in 2004 represented approxi-
mately 9.7%, 7.6%, and 7.0% of operating revenues in years 2004, 2003, and 2002 respectively.

(9) Commitments
Capital Leases

The Company has entered into several leases for revenue equipment which qualify as capitél
leases under SFAS 13. The lease agreements are for terms of 36 to 70 months.

Following is a summary of revenue equipment under capital leases:

Years ended December 31,

2004 2003
(In thousands)
ReEVENUE EQUIPIIENE & . oo e et et e e ettt e e e e et e et it e e e e e $ 30,495 $ 31,934
Less accumulated depreciation .............. ... ... o il (14,269) (12,199)

$ 16,226 $ 19,735
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Operating Leases

In 1999, the Company entered into a lease arrangement for its corporate office facility, which
had been financed by a special purpose entity (“SPE”) sponsored by a bank. The SPE was not
consolidated in the Company’s financial statements and the Company had accounted for this arrange-
ment as an operating lease in accordance with SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for Leases.” In conjunction
with this arrangement, the Company had a residual value guarantee of up to $11.2 million, plus
selling costs, if the Company did not exercise its purchase option and the property was sold for less
than $13.0 million, the Asset Termination Value. In 2003, the FASB issued Interpretation No. 46,
“Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities”. The Company evaluated the treatment of this leasing
arrangement under Interpretation No. 46 and concluded the pronouncement required the Company
to record the asset and related liability in its financial statements; accordingly, the Company recorded
an asset of $11.2 million, the related debt of $13.0 million, and a cumulative-effect change adjustment
of $1.1 million (net of tax benefit of $0.7 million). The Company sold its rights in this property on
December 23, 2003 and concurrent with the sale signed a thirteen-year lease for the two-thirds of the
building the Company currently occupies. This transaction has been accounted for as a sale-leaseback
and thus the related asset and long-term debt balances have been removed from the balance sheet.
In connection with this transaction, the Company deferred a gain of $250,000 that will be recognized
over the lease period. Annual lease payments on this property will be approximately $1.0 million.

Rental expense under facility operating leases was approximately $1,352,000 in 2004, $409,000 in
2003, and $614,000 in 2002.

In 2002, the Company entered into lease arrangements for revenue equipment that are classified
as operating leases. The lease agreements are for terms of 48 months and contain TRAC (terminal
rental adjustment clause) provisions, which require the Company to guarantee a termination value as
a percentage of the original cost of the leased equipment at the lease termination date. The
maximum potential amount the Company could be required to make under the guarantee is $1.1
million. Management does not believe that it is probable that the fair market value of the property
at the end of the lease term will be less than the termination value; accordingly, the Company has
not recorded an additional liability related to this guarantee. Rental expense for revenue equipment
operating leases was approximately $1,037,000 in 2004, $929,000 in 2003, and $742,000 in 2002.

Future minimum payments by year and in the aggregate, under the aforementioned capital and
operating leases and other non-cancelable operating leases with initial or remaining terms in excess
of one year as of December 31, 2004, are as follows:

Capital Operating

Year ending December 31, Leases Leases
(In thousands)

2005 e e $10,552 $ 2,954
2006 e e e 2,933 3,066
2007 e e — 1,236
2008 e e — 1,077
2000 L e — 1,093
Thereafter ... e e e e, — 8,124
Total minimum lease payments .. ............oouiiiiiiiniinnrennnnnnn $13,485 $17,550

Less amount representing interest with imputed rates ranging from 6.5%

B0 78% vt (669)

Present value of net minimum lease payments ......................... 12,816
Less current MatuUrities .. ... ..ottt iie e e iiiienaeeeanns (9.990)
Long term maturities ... ...ttt $ 2,826
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(10) Quarterly Fiﬁancial Data (Unaudited)
Summarized quarterly financial data for 2004 and 2003:

2004:

OPErating TEVEIMUES ... .o\ vvetetiert e eeeeiiannnenennns
Operating iNCOME . ...\ vv et ettt et eeiteraeennns
Netearnings ...........coiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii i,

Earnings per share — basic:

Net earnings pershare ............. ... ...,
Earnings per share — diluted:

Net earnings per share ............. ...,

2003:

Operating TeVENUES .. ......cuuutrrnernuneeennnernnanenns
Operating income (1088) .......c.triiiiiiiiean..

Earnings (loss) before cumulative effect of changes in
accounting principle ......... ... o oo

Cumulative effect of changes in accounting principle, net of
tax effects ... ..

Net earnings (10ss) . .....eii i

Earnings (loss) per share — basic:
Before cumulative effect of changes in accounting principle
Net earnings (loss) per share ..................cooiuit.
Earnings (loss) per share — diluted:
Before cumulative effect of changes in accounting principle
Net earnings (loss) per share ...........................

Quarter

First

Second

Third

Fourth

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

$62,143  $65,232 $65,730 $65,303

962 2,119 800 2,585

$ 71 $§ 795 § 36 $ 1135

$ 001 $ 012 $ 001 $ 0.17

$ 001 $ 012 $ 001 §$ 017
Quarter

First Second Third Fourth®

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

$67.101 $65,638 $64,069 $62,051

319 (349) 2933 1457
S (454) $ (837) $ 1,043 § 322

64 — 1,089 —
$ (518) $ (837) $ (46) $ 322
$ (0.06) $ (012) $ 015 $ 005
$ (0.07) $ (0.12) $ (0.01) $ 0.05
$ (0.06) $ (012) $ 015 §$ 0.04
$ (0.07) $ (0.12) $ (0.01) $ 0.04

(1) Fourth quarter 2003 includes a $1.8 million charge for increased claim costs and growth in open claims.

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per common share is computed independently for each of
the periods presented. Accordingly, the sum of the quarterly basic and diluted net income (loss) per

common share may not agree to the total for the year.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Schedule

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Transport Corporation of America, Inc.:

Under date of February 25, 2005, we reported on the consolidated balance sheets of Transport
Corporation of America, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended December 31, 2004. These consolidated financial statements, and our
report thereon, are included in the annual report on Form 10-K for the year 2004. In connection with
our audits of the aforementioned consolidated financial statements, we also have audited the related
consolidated financial statement schedule as listed in the accompanying index. This consolidated
financial statement schedule is the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statement schedule based on our audits.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to
the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects,
the information set forth therein.

/s KPMG LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
February 25, 2005
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Schedule 11
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
(In thousands)
Additions

Balance at charged to Balance

beginning cost and at end
Description of year expense Deductions of year
Allowance for doubtful accounts

(deducted from accounts receivable)

Year ended December 31,2004 ................. $ 766 669 635 $ 800
Year ended December 31,2003 ................. $ 930 164 328 $ 766
Year ended December 31,2002 ................. $ 470 620 160 $ 930
Reserve for insurance, claim and damage liability
Year ended December 31,2004 ................. $10,063 9,145 7,638 $11,570
Year ended December 31,2003 ................. $ 8,160 8,749 6,846 $10,063
Year ended December 31,2002 ................. $ 5,288 10,711 7,839 $ 8,160
Reserve for workers’ compensation liability
Year ended December 31,2004 ................. $ 2,478 2,742 2,643 $ 2577
Year ended December 31,2003 ................. $ 1,840 2,569 1,931 $ 2,478
Year ended December 31,2002 ................. $ 1,177 2,293 1,630 . $ 1,840




Exhibit 21
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

The following are significant subsidiaries of Transport Corporation of America, Inc. as of
December 31, 2004.

State or Other Percentage

Jurisdiction of Voting
Name of Incorporation  Securities Owned
Transport International Express, Inc. ................ ... o L. Minnesota 100%
TCA of Ohio, Inc. ... . e Minnesota 100%
TA Logistics, INC. ... ovinir ettt Minnesota 100%
FV Leasing Company ...........ouuiniiiiiniiniiiiiiaanan.. Minnesota 160%




Exhibit 23
CONSENT OF REGISTERED INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors
Transport Corporation of America, Inc.:

We consent to incorporation by reference in the registration statements (No. 333-89956,
333-99235, 333-62992, 333-69419, 33-90896, and 33-96576) on Form S-8 of Transport Corporation of
America, Inc. and subsidiaries of our reports dated February 25, 2005, relating to the consolidated
balance sheets of Transport Corporation of America, Inc. as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 and the
related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholders’ equity and cash flows, and the
related consolidated financial statement schedule for each of the years in the three-year period ended
December 31, 2004, which reports appear in the December 31, 2004 annual report on Form 10-K of
Transport Corporation of America, Inc.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company adopted the provi-
sions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard No. 142, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
on January 1, 2002 and the provisions of FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities, on July 1, 2003.

/s/f KPMG LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 2, 2005



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Michael J. Paxton, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Transport Corporation of America, Inc,;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

¢) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 3, 2005

s/ MICHAEL J. PAXTON

Michael J. Paxton
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Keith R. Klein, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Transport Corporation of America, Inc;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the
circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in
this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e))
for the registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information
relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being
prepared;

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls
and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial
reporting.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent
evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit
committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
contro! over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who
have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 3, 2005

/s/ KEITH R. KLEIN

Keith R. Klein
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Informa-
tion Officer




Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2003

Pursuant to 18 US.C. §1350 (as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003), I,
the undersigned Chief Executive Officer of Transport Corporation of America, Inc. (the “Company™),
hereby certify that the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December
31, 2004 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securi-
ties Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the
Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the SEC or its staff upon request.

Date: March 3, 2005

/s/f MICHAEL J. PAXTON

Michael J. Paxton
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2003

Pursuant to 18 US.C. §1350 (as adopted pursuant to §306 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2003), I,
the undersigned Chief Financial Officer of Transport Corporation of America, Inc. (the “Company”),
hereby certify that the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the year ended December
31, 2004 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securi-
ties Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the
Company and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the SEC or its staff upon request.

Date: March 3, 2005

/s/ KEITH R. KLEIN

Keith R. Klein
Chief Financial Officer and Chief Information
Officer .
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